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continuing operations' was up $50.0 million to $35.6 million and EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation)
from continuing operations' was up $74.3 million to $109.5 million. Further strengthening our position was the realiza-
tion of proceeds of over $100 million from the sale of our Realty operations in February of 2004 to Cendant and the signing
of a three-year credit facility for $200 million. As a result, our cash and short-term investments? totaled $257 million at
December 31, 2004. This dramatic financial improvement led to a credit rating upgrade from both Standard & Poor's and
Moody’s in 2004 and a 33% increase in our share price during 2004. We will continue to challenge the cost structure and
seek additional opportunities for revenue growth.

As we write this in March of 2005, we record with great sadness the recent passing of our Vice Chairman, Max Fisher.
For the past twenty years, Max played a key role at Sotheby’s. He was the epitome of wisdom, of judgment and of integri-
ty and it is impossible to acknowledge adequately his many contributions to our firm. We extend our deepest condolences
to his wife Marjorie and his family.

Max's belief in and support of our people were unswerving. He knew they were the best in the business and appreciat-
ed enormously their total commitment and unstinting efforts on Sotheby's behalf. We know he would join with us in thank-
ing our worldwide employees for their invaluable contributions to this year's results.

Through our emphasis on building our team and delivering value to our clients, Sotheby's was the clear leader in the
auction marketplace last year in every measurable way. As we move into 2005, our focus and commitment remain as strong
as ever, as does our determination to continue to deliver value to you, our shareholders. We extend our thanks and appreci-

ation to you, to our management and to our Board of Directors for your continuing support.

maw%w@( Deeiedurd 0 Lnone

WILLIAM F. RUPRECHT MICHAEL I. SOVERN

President and Chairman
Chief Executive Officer
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1 Relating to the Company’s continuing operations, excluding emplayee related retention costs, net restructuring charges,
antitrust related special charges and licensee fee revenues and expenses (see Non-GAAP reconcifiation on page I
2Excluding restricted cash.




DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS: As you know, our profound commitment to you has been a return to profitability. It has
been the key focus and priority of our Board, our senior management and our employees. We are delighted, therefore, to
report to you that in 2004 we achieved our goal. With adjusted net income from continuing operations' of $35.6 million and
auction sales up almost a billion dollars; and as both the auctioneer of the world’s most expensive painting and the agent of
possibly the most successful private sale ever, Sotheby's was firmly in the forefront in 2004. It was an outstanding year.

Throughout the year there were extraordinary highpoints. First and foremost was the sale of the painting which deservedly
graces the cover of our Annual Report. Picasso's masterpiece, Garcon a la pipe, consigned by the Greentree Foundation from
the collection of legendary collectors Mr. and Mrs. John Hay Whitney, sold for $104.2 million, becoming the first painting
to cross the $100 million threshold. We take pride in this historic accomplishment. The entire Greentree Collection achieved
another milestone when it sold for $213.2 million, our highest total ever for a single owner sale. And Sotheby’s sale of
Imperial Easter Eggs from the Forbes Collection of Fabergé gripped the world's imagination when it was repatriated to Russia
following our private sale.

Eight out of the top ten lots last year were sold at Sotheby's, a remarkable achievement. They included Amédéo
Modigliani's Jeanne Hébuterne (devant une porte) which sold for a record $31.4 million in November; Johannes Vermeer's A
Young Woman Seated at the Virginals, which sold for a record $30.0 million in July; John Singer Sargent's Group with Parasols
(a Siesta), which sold for a record $23.5 miillion in December; and Paul Gauguin's Maternité (l1), which sold for a record $39.2
million in November.

Outstanding results in a number of sales devoted to the collections of individual owners combined to achieve our highest
single owner sales total in fifteen years. In addition 1o the Greentree sale, the most notable examples were Rita and Daniel
Fraad's Collection of American Paintings, which brought $65.1 million; the contents of contemporary artist Damien Hirst’s
restaurant Pharmacy, which was 100% sold and totaled $20.1 million, more than double its pre-sale estimate; and the Library
of the Earl of Macclesfield which achieved $18.2 million in London.

Very importantly, Sotheby’s financial position significantly strengthened in 2004. Adjusted operating income from

continuing operations’ reached $85.4 million, a $76.2 million increase from the prior year. Adjusted net income from
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{Thousands of dollars)

GAAP Qperating Income (Loss)

from Continuing Operations $126,662
Adjustments:
License fee revenues (a) (45,745)
License agreement expenses (a) 2,161
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Net restructuring charges {c) 146
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2004 2003
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GAAP Net Income (Loss)

($7,426) from Continuing Operations $62,393 ($26,038)
Adjustments

- (net of income tax effects):

— License fee revenues (a) (29,734) —
8,466 License agreement expenses (a) 1,405 —
5,039 Retention costs (b) 182 5,951
3,112 Net restructuring charges (¢} 93 3,642
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$9,191 Adjusted Net Income (loss)
from Continuing Operations $35,569 ($14,358)
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periods that
the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the
past 90 days. Yes [/] No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of dehnquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
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information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K. []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
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As of June 30, 2004, the aggregate market value of the 45,121,917 shares of Class A Limited Voting
Common Stock (the “Class A Common Stock”) and 1,738,232 shares of Class B Common Stock (the “Class B
Common Stock”), for which there is no public market, held by non-affiliates of the registrant was $720,145,795
and $27,742,183, respectively, based upon the closing price ($15.96) on the New York Stock Exchange composite
tape on such date for the Class A voting stock, into which Class B Common Stock is freely convertible on a
share-for-share basis. For these calculations, the common stock of each class beneficially owned by the
registrant’s controlling Class B Common Stock shareholder, directors and executive officers were treated as
shares owned by affiliates; such inclusion, however, should not be construed as an admission that any such
person is an “affiliate” of the registrant.

As of March 1, 2005, there were outstanding 46,117,297 shares of Class A Common Stock and 18,118,218
shares of Class B Common Stock, freely convertible into 18,118,218 shares of Class A Common Stock. There is
no public market for the registrant’s Class B Common Stock, which is held by affiliates and non-affiliates of the
registrant.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s proxy statement for the 2005 annual meeting of shareholders are incorporated

by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K.




PART I

ITEM 1: DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Company Overview

Sotheby’s Holdings, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires,
the “Company”) is one of the world’s two largest auctioneers of fine art, decorative arts and
collectibles. The Company offers property through its worldwide Auction segment in approximately
70 collecting categories, among them fine art, decorative arts, jewelry and collectibles. In addition
to auctioneering, the Auction segment is engaged in a number of related activities, including the
purchase and resale of art and other collectibles and the brokering of private purchases and sales
of art and collectibles. The Company also conducts art-related financing activities through its
Finance segment.

The Company was incorporated in Michigan in August 1983. In October 1983, the Company
acquired Sotheby Parke Bernet Group Limited, which was then a publicly held company listed on
the International Stock Exchange of the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland Limited and
which, through its predecessors, had been engaged in the auction business since 1744. In 1988, the
Company issued shares of Class A Common Stock to the public. The Class A Common Stock is
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”).

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan to sell its domestic real
estate brokerage business, Sotheby’s International Realty, Inc. (“SIR”), as well as most of its real
estate brokerage offices outside of the United States (the “U.S.”). On February 17, 2004, the
Company consummated the sale of SIR to a subsidiary of Cendant Corporation (“Cendant”). In
conjunction with the sale, the Company entered into an agreement with Cendant to license the
Sotheby’s International Realty trademark and certain related trademarks for an initial 50-year term
with a 50-year renewal option. Initially, this license agreement was applicable to Canada, Israel,
Mexico, the U.S. and certain Caribbean countries. Also in conjunction with the sale, Cendant
received options to acquire most of the other non-U.S. offices of the Company’s real estate
brokerage business and to expand the license agreement to cover the related trademarks in other
countries outside the U.S., excluding Australia and New Zealand (the “International Options”).
The International Options were exercised by Cendant during 2004. Additionally, in the fourth
quarter of 2004, the Company committed to a plan to sell its real estate brokerage business in
Australia. SIR and the non-U.S. real estate brokerage operations comprised the Company’s former
Real Estate segment. For additional information related to these transactions, refer to Note C of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”

Auction Segment

Description of Business

The purchase and sale of works of art in the international art market are primarily effected
through numerous dealers, the major auction houses, the smaller auction houses and also directly
between collectors. Although dealers and smaller auction houses generally do not report sales
figures publicly, the Company believes that dealers account for the majority of the volume of
transactions in the international art market.

The Company and Christie’s International, PLC (“Christie’s”), a privately held auction house,
are the two largest art auction houses in the world.

The Company auctions a wide variety of property, including fine art, decorative art, jewelry
and collectibles. Most of the objects auctioned by the Company are unique items, and their value,
therefore, can only be estimated prior to sale. The Company’s principal role as an auctioneer is to
identify, evaluate and appraise works of art through its international staff of specialists; to
stimulate purchaser interest through professional marketing techniques; and to match sellers and
buyers through the auction process.



In its role as auctioneer, the Company generally functions as an agent accepting property on
consignment from its selling clients. The Company sells property as agent of the consignor, billing
the buyer for property purchased, receiving payment from the buyer and remitting to the
consignor the consignor’s portion of the buyer’s payment after deducting the Company’s
commissions, expenses and applicable taxes. In certain situations, the Company releases property
sold at auction to buyers before receiving payment. In such situations, the Company pays the
consignor the net sale proceeds for the released property at the time payment is due, even if the
Company has not received payment from the buyer. (See Note E of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, the Company will guarantee to
consignors a minimum price in connection with the sale of property at auction (an “auction
guarantee”). The Company must perform under its auction guarantee only in the event that the
property sells for less than the minimum price and, therefore, the Company must pay the
difference between the sale price at auction and the amount of the auction guarantee. If the
property does not sell, the amount of the guarantee must be paid, but the Company has the right
to recover such amount through the future sale of the property. Generally, the Company is entitled
to a share of the excess proceeds if the property under the auction guarantee sells above a
minimum price. In addition, the Company is obligated under the terms of certain auction
guarantees to advance a portion of the guaranteed amount prior to the auction. In certain
situations, the Company reduces its financial exposure under auction guarantees through sharing
arrangements with unaffiliated partners. (See Note Q of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Beginning in June 2002, the Company conducted Internet auctions through its website,
sothebys.com, pursuant to the terms of a strategic alliance with eBay, Inc. (“eBay”) whereby
sothebys.com online auctions were incorporated into the eBay marketplace. In February 2003, the
Company and eBay entered into an agreement to discontinue separate online auctions on
sothebys.com, effective April 30, 2003. Subsequent to that date, the Company’s Internet activities
have focused on promoting its live auctions. (See Note T of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

In addition to auctioneering, the Auction segment is engaged in a number of related activities,
including the purchase and resale of art and other collectibles and the brokering of private
purchases and sales of art and collectibles. For example, the Company has a 50% equity interest
in Acquavella Modern Art (“AMA”), a partnership between a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and Acquavella Contemporary Art, Inc. The assets of AMA consist principally of art
inventory. (See Notes B and G of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item §,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

The Company’s auction business is seasonal, with peak revenues and operating income
generally occurring in the second and fourth quarters of each year as a result of the traditional
spring and fall art auction seasons. Consequently, the Auction segment typically reports operating
losses in the first and third quarters of each year. (See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Results of Operations,” and Note W of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

The Auction Market and Competition

Competition in the international art market is intense. A fundamental challenge facing any
auctioneer or dealer is to obtain high quality and valuable property for sale. The Company’s
primary auction competitor is Christie’s.

The owner of a work of art wishing to sell it has four principal options: (1) sale or
consignment o, or private sale by, an art dealer; (2) consignment to, or private sale by, an auction
house; (3) private sale to a collector or museum without the use of an intermediary; or (4) for
certain categories of property (in particular, collectibles) consignment to, or private sale through,
an internet-based service. The more valuable the property, the more likely it is that the owner will
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consider more than one option and will solicit proposals from more than one potential purchaser
or agent, particularly if the seller is a fiduciary representing an estate or trust. A complex array of
factors may influence the seller’s decision. These factors, which are not ranked in any particular
order, include:

¢ The level and breadth of expertise of the dealer or auction house with respect to the
property;

¢ The extent of the prior relationship, if any, between the seller and the firm;

¢ The reputation and historic level of achievement by the firm in attaining high sale prices in
the property’s specialized category;

e The desire for privacy on the part of sellers and buyers;

¢ The amount of cash offered by a dealer, auction house or other purchaser to purchase the
property outright;

o The level of auction guarantees or the terms of other financial options offered by auction
houses;

¢ The level of pre-sale estimates offered by auction houses;

¢ The desirability of a public auction in order to achieve the maximum possibie price (a
particular concern for fiduciary sellers, such as trustees and executors);

¢ The amount of commission proposed by dealers or auction houses to sell a work on
consignment;

e The cost, style and extent of presale marketing and promotion to be undertaken by a firm;
¢ Recommendations by third parties consulted by the seller;
» Relationships and personal interaction between the seller and the firm’s staff; and

e The availability and extent of related services, such as tax or insurance appraisal and
short-term financing.

It is not possible to measure with any particular accuracy the entire international art market
or to reach any conclusions regarding overall competition because dealers and auction firms
frequently do not publicly report annual sales totals and the amounts reported are not verifiable.

Auction Regulation

Regulation of the auction business varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In many
jurisdictions, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that are not directed solely toward
the auction business, including, but not limited to, import and export regulations, cultural
patrimony laws and value added sales taxes. Such regulations do not impose a material
impediment to the worldwide business of the Company but do affect the market generally, and a
material adverse change in such regulations could affect the business. In addition, the failure to
comply with such local laws and regulations could subject the Company to civil and/or criminal
penalties in such jurisdictions. The Company has a Compliance Department to provide training to
Company employees and to audit the Company’s compliance with many of these laws and
regulations.

A recent ruling by the European Court of Justice proposed that the standard rate of value
added sales tax must be paid on the buyer’s premium on works imported into the U.K. from
outside the European Union and sold at auction. Although the Company continues to analyze the
ultimate impact of the proposed rule, management believes the proposed rule will not have a
material effect on the Company’s business. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)
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Finance Segment

Description of Business

The Company provides certain collectors and dealers with financing generally secured by
works of art that the Company either has in its possession or permits the borrower to possess.
The Company’s financing activities are conducted through its wholly-owned direct and indirect
subsidiaries.

The general policy of the Finance segment is to make secured loans at loan to value ratios
(principal loan amount divided by the low auction estimate of the collateral) of 50% or lower. The
Company will also lend at loan to value ratios higher than 50%. All of the Finance segment’s
loans are variable interest rate loans.

The Company generally makes two types of secured loans: (1) advances secured by consigned
property to borrowers who are contractually committed, in the near term, to sell the property at
auction (a “consignor advance”); and (2) general purpose term loans to collectors or dealers
secured by property not presently intended for sale (a “term loan”). The consignor advance allows
a consignor to receive funds shortly after consignment for an auction that will occur several weeks
or months in the future, while preserving for the benefit of the consignor the potential of the
auction process. Term loans allow the Company to establish or enhance mutually beneficial
relationships with dealers and collectors. Term loans are generally made with full recourse against
the borrower. In certain instances, however, term loans are made with recourse limited to the
works of art pledged as security for the loan. To the extent that the Company is looking wholly or
partially to the collateral for repayment of its loans, repayment can be adversely impacted by a
decline in the art market in general or in the value of the particular collateral. In addition, in
situations where the borrower becomes subject to bankruptcy or insolvency laws, the Company’s
ability to realize on its collateral may be limited or delayed by the application of such laws.

Under certain circumstances, the Company also makes unsecured loans to collectors and
dealers. In certain of these situations, the Company finances the purchase of works of art by
certain art dealers through unsecured loans. The property purchased pursuant to such unsecured
loans is sold by the dealer or at auction with any profit or loss shared by the Company and the
dealer. Interest income related to such unsecured loans is reflected in the results of the Finance
segment, while the Company’s share of any profit or loss is reflected in the results of the Auction
segment.

(See Notes B and E of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

The Company funds its financing activities generally through operating cash flows
supplemented by credit facility borrowings. (See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources,” and Note J of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”)

The Finance Market and Competition

A considerable number of traditional lending sources offer conventional loans at a lower cost
to borrowers than the average cost of those offered by the Company. Additionally, many
traditional lenders offer borrowers a variety of integrated financial services such as wealth
management services, which are not offered by the Company. Few lenders, however, are willing to
accept works of art as sole collateral as they do not possess the ability both to appraise and to
sell works of art within a vertically integrated organization. The Company believes that its
financing alternatives are attractive to clients who wish to obtain liquidity from their art assets.

Factors Affecting Operating Results and Liquidity

See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Factors Affecting Operating Results and Liquidity.”
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Financial and Geographical Information About Segments

See Note D of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data,” for financial and geographical information about the
Company’s segments.

Personnel

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had 1,411 employees with 513 located in North
America; 568 in the United Kingdom (the “U.K.”), 249 in Continental Europe and 81 in Asia.
The Company regards its relations with its employees as good. The table below provides a
breakdown of the Company’s employees as of December 31, 2004 and 2003.

December 31 2004 2003
AUCHON SEGIMENT ..\ttt ettt et ettt iraaenenaens 1,275 1,287
Finance Segment ...........oiuinieiiiiini i 7 7
Discontinued Operations . .........oo.oveeniieiiiiniineniianenenen.. 6 109
All Other .. o e 123 134

Total ..o e 1,411 1,537

Employees classified within “All Other” principally relate to the Company’s central corporate
and information technology departments.

Website Address

The Company makes available free of charge its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K through a hyperlink from its website,
www.sothebys.com, to www.shareholder.com/bid/edgar.cfm, a website maintained by an unaffiliated
third-party service. Such reports are made available on the same day that they are electronically
filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 2: PROPERTIES

The Company’s North American Auction and Finance operations, as well as its corporate
offices, are headquartered at 1334 York Avenue, New York, New York (the “York Property”). The
York Property, which is approximately 400,000 square feet, is home to the Company’s North
American auction salesrooms. The Company also currently leases warehouse space at one other
location in Manhattan, New York and leases office and exhibition space in several other major
cities throughout the U.S.

The Company acquired the York Property in July 2000. During the first quarter of 2001, the
Company completed the construction of a six-story addition and renovation of the York Property,
which expanded the Company’s auction, warehouse and office space in New York City and enabled
the Company to consolidate many of its New York City operations. On February 7, 2003, the
Company sold the York Property and entered into an agreement to lease it back from the buyer
for an initial 20-year term, with options to extend the lease for two additional 10-year terms.

(See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources,” and Notes H and L of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

In July 2004, management initiated the consolidation of the Company’s New York warehouse
space into the York Property in order to reduce premises costs in North America. This
consolidation is currently underway and is currently expected to be completed during the first half
of 2003.

The Company’s U.K. operations (primarily auction) are centered at New Bond Street, London,
where the main salesrooms and administrative offices of Sotheby’s U.K. are located. The New
Bond Street premises are approximately 200,000 square feet. The Company owns a portion of the
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New Bond Street premises, and a portion is leased under long-term leases. The Company also
leases approximately 50,000 square feet at Olympia, a building located in Kensington, West
London. The Olympia facility, which commenced operations in September 2001, is a specially
dedicated middle market auction salesroom. In addition, the Company leases warechouse space at
King’s House in West London and owns land and a building in Sussex (the “Sussex Property”),
which previcusly housed an auction salesroom. The Company is in the process of selling the
Sussex Property. (See Note P of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

The Company also leases space primarily for auction operations in various locations
throughout Continental Europe, including salesrooms in Amsterdam, The Netherlands; Geneva and
Zurich, Switzerland; Milan, Italy; and Paris, France; in Asia, including Hong Kong and Singapore;
and in Australia.

In management’s opinion, the Company’s worldwide premises are adequate for the current
conduct of its business. However, management continually analyzes its worldwide premises for both
its current and future business needs in an effort to reduce overhead costs. Where appropriate,
management will continue to make any necessary changes to address the Company’s business
needs.

ITEM 3: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Canadian Competition Bureau is continuing to conduct an investigation regarding
anti-competitive practices relating to commissions charged by the Company and Christie’s for
auction services during the period 1993 to 2000.

The Company also becomes involved, from time to time, in various claims and lawsuits
incidental to the ordinary course of its business.

Management does not believe that the outcome of any of the pending claims or proceedings
described above will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and/or liquidity.

(See Notes P and R of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

ITEM 4: SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company’s shareholders during the fourth quarter
of 2004,




PART II

ITEM 5: MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

Market Information

The principal U.S. market for the Company’s Class A Cemmon Stock is the NYSE (symbol:
BID).

The Company also has Class B Common Stock, convertible on a share for share basis into
Class A Common Stock. There is no public market for the Class B Common Stock. Per share

cash dividends, if any, would be equal for the Class A Common Stock and Class B Common
Stock.

The quarterly price ranges on the NYSE of the Class A Common Stock for 2004 and 2003
are as follows:

2004
Quarter Ended High Low
March 31 ..o $15.93 $12.17
JUBE 30 ..t e e $16.60 $12.69
September 30 ... ...t e e e e $17.23 $14.13
December 3] ... e e e $19.24 $15.10

2003
Quarter Ended High Low
March 30 .. e e $940 §$ 7.87
JUDE B0 . e e e $ 943 § 6.49
September 30 .. ... e $11.99 $ 7.62
December 31 . i $14.10 $10.33

The number of holders of record of Class A Common Stock as of March 1, 2005 was 2,159.
The number of holders of record of Class B Common Stock as of March 1, 2005 was 88.

The Company’s credit facility has a covenant that prohibits it from making dividend payments.
(See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources,” and Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”) The Company did not
pay any dividends during 2004 and 2003.




Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2004 with respect to shares of
the Company’s common stock that may be issued under its existing equity compensation plans,
including the Sotheby’s Holdings, Inc. 1987 Stock Option Plan (the “1987 Stock Option Plan”), the
Sotheby’s Holdings, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Stock Option Plan”), the Sotheby’s
Holdings, Inc. 2003 Restricted Stock Plan (the “Restricted Stock Plan”) and the Sotheby’s
Holdings, Inc. Stock Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the “Directors Stock Plan”):

A) - (B) ©
Number of

Securities to be Number of Securities
Issued Upon Remaining Available for
Exercise of Weighted Average  Future Issuance Under

Outstanding Exercise Price of Equity Compensation

Options, Outstanding Plans (excluding
Warrants and Options, Warrants securities reflected in
Plan Category (1) Rights (2) and Rights (3) column (A)) 4) (5)

(In thousands, except per share data)

Equity compensation plans approved by

shareholders............c.iiiiiiiii .. 8,520 $16.44 7,951
Equity compensation plans not approved by

shareholders................ ...l = = =

Total. ... 8,520 $16.44 7,951

(1) See Note M of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data,” for a description of the material features of and
additional information related to the 1987 Stock Option Plan, the 1997 Stock Option Plan, the
Restricted Stock Plan and the Directors Stock Plan.

(2) Includes 1,329,659 shares of Class B Common Stock issuable upon the vesting of outstanding
stock awards granted under the Restricted Stock Plan.

(3) The weighted-average exercise price does not take into account 1,329,659 shares issuable upon
the vesting of outstanding stock awards granted under the Restricted Stock Plan, which have
no exercise price. :

(4) Includes 645,796 shares of Class B Common Stock available for future issuance under the
Restricted Stock Plan.

(5) Includes 100,236 shares of Class A Common Stock available for future issuance under the
Directors Stock Plan.




ITEM 6: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table provides selected financial data for the Company. In the fourth quarter of
2003, the Company committed to a plan to sell SIR, its domestic real estate brokerage business, as
well as most of its real estate brokerage offices outside of the U.S. On February 17, 2004, the
Company consummated the sale of SIR to a subsidiary of Cendant. Additionally, in the fourth
quarter of 2004, the Company committed to a plan to sell its real estate brokerage business in
Australia. This business is the only remaining component of the Company’s former Real Estate
segment. Accordingly, the income statement and per share data for all periods presented below
represents only results from the Company’s continuing operations.

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Aggregate Auction Sales (1) ... $2,694,544  $1,690,655  $1,774240  $1,619909  $1,936,316
Income statement data:

Auction and related revenues.. $§ 443,130 $ 308,990 $ 296,744 $ 286,264 $ 335191
License fee revenues........... 45,745 — — — —_
Other revenues ................ 7,845 8,354 10,767 16,474 24,443

Total revenues ................. $ 496,720 $ 317,344 $ 307,511 $ 302,738 $ 359,634
Net interest expense ........... $ (30,270) $ (30334) $ (20,177) $§ (21,685 § (12,360)
Income (loss) from continuing

OpErations ................... $ 62393(2) $ (26,038)(3) $ (59,168)(4) $ (44,723)(5) $ (195,561)(6)
Basic income (loss) per share

from continuing operations .. § 1.01(2) § (042)(3)$ (096)(4)$  (0.74)5) 8  (3.32)(6)

Diluted income (loss) per
share from continuing

Operations ................... $ 1.002) $ (042)(3)$ (096)(4) 8  (0.74)5) $  (3.32)(6)
Balance sheet data:
Working capital (deficit) ....... $ 212,360 $ 82404 $ 9544 $ (13903) $ 39515
Total assets .................... $1,225,346 $ 906,100 $ 875,705 $ 863,463 $1,078,111
Credit facility borrowings ...... $ — $ 20,000 $ 100,000 $ 130,000 $ 116,000
Long-term debt (net) .......... $ 99617 $ 99,539 $ 99,466 $ 99,398 $ 99334
York Property capital lease

obligation.................... $ 172,169 $ 172,282 $ — $ — $ —
Shareholders’ equity ........... $ 235919 $ 127,408 $ 140,368 $ 185,870 $ 188,054

(1) Represents the hammer (sale) price of property sold at auction plus buyer’s premium.

(2) Amounts for the year ended December 31, 2004 include the following (on a pre-tax basis):
License Fee Revenues of $45.7 million, Retention Costs of $0.3 million, Net Restructuring
Charges of $0.1 million and Special Charges of $1.9 million.

(3) Amounts for the year ended December 31, 2003 include the following (on a pre-tax basis):
Retention Costs of $8.5 million, Net Restructuring Charges of $5.0 million and Special Charges
of $3.1 million.

(4) Amounts for the year ended December 31, 2002 include the following (on a pre-tax basis):
Retention Costs of $22.6 million, Net Restructuring Charges of $2.0 million and Special
Charges of $41.0 million.

(5) Amounts for the year ended December 31, 2001 include the following (on a pre-tax basis):
Retention Costs of $19.8 million, Net Restructuring Charges of $16.5 million and Special
Charges of $2.5 million.

(6) Amounts for the year ended December 31, 2000 include the following (on a pre-tax basis):
Retention Costs of $3.4 million, Net Restructuring Charges of $12.6 million and Special
Charges of $203.1 million.




ITEM 7: MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2003

Note D (“Segment Reporting”) of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements should be read
in conjunction with this discussion.

Seasonality

The worldwide art auction market has two principal selling seasons, spring and fall.
Accordingly, first and third quarter results of the Auction segment typically reflect lower Aggregate
Auction Sales (as defined below) and a loss from operations due to the fixed nature of many of
the Company’s operating expenses. (See Note W of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

GAAP refers to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.
Included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations are financial measures
presented in accordance with GAAP and also on a non-GAAP basis. When material, the
Company excludes the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates when comparing
current year results to the prior year. Consequently, such period-to-period comparisons are
provided on a constant dollar basis by eliminating the impact of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates since the prior year. Management believes the use of this non-GAAP financial
measure provides a more meaningful discussion and analysis of material fluctuations in the
Company’s operating results. Additionally, management utilizes this non-GAAP financial measure
in analyzing its operating results.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts
reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may
ultimately differ from management’s original estimates as future events and circumstances
sometimes do not develop as expected. Note B of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
describes the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Management believes that the following are the most critical
accounting estimates that may affect the Company’s financial condition and/or results of operations.

(1) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—The Company is required to estimate the collectibility of
its accounts receivable balances, which are almost entirely related to the Auction segment. A
considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing the collectibility of these receivables,
including judgments about the current creditworthiness and financial condition of each client
and related aging of past due balances. Management evaluates specific accounts receivable
balances when it becomes aware of a situation where a client may not be able to meet its
financial obligations to the Company. The amount of the required allowance is based on the
facts available to management and is reevaluated and adjusted as additional information is
received. Allowances are also established for probable losses inherent in the remainder of the
accounts receivakle balance. Management’s judgments about the creditworthiness of the
Company’s clients may prove, with the benefit of hindsight, to be inaccurate. Accordingly,
adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts have historically been required to reflect
changes in facts and circumstances. If the creditworthiness of the Company’s clients were to
deteriorate, additional allowances would be required resulting in an adverse impact on the
operating results of the Auction segment. Alternatively, if the creditworthiness of certain of
the Company’s clients were to improve, reductions in the allowance for doubtful accounts
would be required resulting in a favorable impact on the operating resuits of the Auction
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segment. (See Note E of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Allowance for Credit Losses—The Company is required to estimate the collectibility of its
notes receivable balances, which are related to the client loan portfolio of the Finance
segment. A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing the collectibility of these
loans, including judgments about the estimated realizable value of any underlying collateral
and the current creditworthiness and financial condition of a borrower. Management evaluates
specific loans when it becomes aware of a situation where a borrower may not be able to
repay the loan. The amount of the required allowance is based on the facts available to
management and is reevaluated and adjusted as additional information is received.

Secured loans that may not be collectible from the borrower are analyzed based on the
current estimated realizable value of the collateral securing each loan. Reserves are
established for secured loans that management believes are under-collateralized, and with
respect to which the under-collateralized amount may not be collectible from the borrower.
To the extent that the Company is looking wholly or partially to the collateral for repayment
of its loans, repayment can be adversely impacted by a decline in the art market in general
or in the value of the particular collateral. In addition, in situations where the borrower
becomes subject to bankruptcy or insolvency laws, the Company’s ability to realize on its
collateral may be limited or delayed by the application of such laws. Unsecured loans are
analyzed based on management’s estimate of the current collectibility of each loan, taking into
account the creditworthiness and financial condition of the borrower. A reserve is also
established for probable losses inherent in the remainder of the loan portfolio based on
historical data related to loan write-offs. If the estimated realizable value of any underlying
collateral and/or the creditworthiness of borrowers in the Company’s client loan portfolio were
to deteriorate, additional allowances may be required resulting in an adverse impact on the
Company’s operating results. However, historical losses relating to the Company’s client loan
portfolio have been infrequent and the data used by management to develop the allowance
for credit losses has been reliable in developing historically accurate estimates.

(See Note E of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Inventory—Inventory consists principally of objects obtained incidental to the auction process,
primarily as a result of the failure of guaranteed property to sell at auction at or above the
minimum price guaranteed by the Company, defaults by purchasers after the consignor has
been paid and the honoring of purchasers’ claims. To a lesser extent, inventory also includes
objects purchased for investment purposes. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or
management’s estimate of net realizable value. This estimate is based on management’s
judgments about the art market in general and the value of individual items held in
inventory. If the market value of this inventory were to decline, the Company would be
required to evaluate whether to record a loss in the Auction segment to reduce the carrying
value of the inventory. However, historical subsequent adjustments to the net realizable value
allowances have been minimal. (See Note F of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Pension Benefits—The pension obligations related to the Company’s UK. defined benefit
pension plan are developed from an actuarial valuation. Inherent in this valuation are key
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rate, expected long-term return on plan
assets, future compensation increases, and other factors, which are updated on an annual
basis. In determining these assumptions and estimates, management considers current market
conditions, market indices and other relevant data.

The discount rate assumption represents the approximate weighted average rate at which the
Company’s pension obligations could be effectively settled and is based on a hypothetical
portfolio of high-quality corporate bonds with maturity dates approximating the length of time
remaining until individual benefit payment dates. As of the date of the most recent valuation
of the UK. defined benefit pension plan, a hypothetical increase or decrease in the discount
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rate assumption of 0.1% (e.g., from 5.4% to 5.5% or from 5.4% to 5.3%) would result in: (1)
a decrease or increase in net periodic pension cost of approximately $0.6 million and (2) a
decrease or increase in the projected benefit obligation of approximately $5.5 million.

The assumption for the expected long-term return on plan assets is based on dividend and
interest yields available on equity and bond markets as of the plan’s measurement date and
weighted according to the composition of invested plan assets. As of the date of the most
recent valuation of the U.K. defined benefit pension plan, a hypothetical increase or decrease
in the expected long-term return on plan assets of 0.25% (e.g., from 7.75% to 8% or from
7.75% to 7.5%) would result in a decrease or increase in net periodic pension cost of
approximately $0.5 million.

The assumption for future compensation increases is established after considering historical
data for the Company and current economic data for inflation, as well as management’s
expectations for future salary growth. As of the date of the most recent valuation of the U.K.
defined benefit pension plan, a hypothetical increase or decrease in the assumption for future
salary increases of 0.25% (e.g., from 4.75% to 5% or from 4.75% to 4.5%) would result in:
(1) an increase or decrease in net periodic pension cost of approximately $0.5 million and

(2) an increase or decrease in the projected benefit obligation of approximately $1.9 million.

During the three-year period from 2000 to 2002, actual asset returns were less than the
Company’s assumed rate of return on plan assets, principally contributing to unrecognized net
losses of approximately $77.5 million at December 31, 2004. These unrecognized losses will be
systematically recognized as an increase in future net periodic pension expense in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting
for Pensions.” Unrecognized losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the market-related
value of plan assets or the plan’s projected benefit obligation are recognized over a period of
approximately 14 years, which represents the average remaining service period of active
employees expected to receive benefits under the plan. In 2005, the Company currently
expects the amortization of such unrecognized losses to be approximately $2.2 million. In
accordance with SFAS No. 87, the market-related value of plan assets reflects changes in the
fair value of plan assets over a five-year period.

(See Note N of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” for a description of the U.K. defined benefit pension
plan, as well as the Company’s other pension arrangements.)

Legal and Other Contingencies—The Company is subject to legal proceedings, lawsuits and
other claims. Management is required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or
outcomes in these matters, as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of
the amount of reserves, if any, required for these contingencies is based on a careful analysis
of each individual exposure with, in some cases, the assistance of outside legal counsel. The
required reserves may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or a
change in settlement strategy. (See Notes P and R of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Income Taxes—At December 31, 2004, the Company had net deferred tax assets of $67.7
million primarily resulting from net operating loss carryforwards and deductible temporary
differences, which will reduce taxable income in future periods over a number of years.
Included in this net deferred tax asset is a valuation allowance of $33.8 million to reduce the
Company’s deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In
assessing the need for the valuation allowance management considers, among other things, its
projections of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.
If the Company’s projections of future taxable income and other positive evidence considered
in evaluating the need for a valuation allowance prove, with the benefit of hindsight, to be
inaccurate, it will be more difficult to support the realization of these deferred tax assets. As
a result, an additional valuation allowance may be required, which would have an adverse
impact on the Company’s results. Conversely, should management determine that it would be
able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net recorded amount, an
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adjustment to the deferred tax asset would have a favorable impact on the Company’s results
in the period such determination was made. (See Note K of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Overview

During 2004, the recovery in the international art market, which began in the fourth quarter
of 2003, continued and the Company experienced significantly better results when compared to the
prior year. Management currently expects the strength of the international art market to continue
and is encouraged by its strong first quarter 2005 auction sales results to-date, as well as by the
level of consignments for the upcoming spring auction season. However, despite management’s
optimism, Auction segment results for the first half of 2005 may not reach the level achieved
during the same period in the prior year as we do not expect another private sale such as the
landmark private sale of the Forbes Collection of Faberge in February 2004, or a replication of
the May 2004 single-owner sale of property of the Greentree Foundation, both as discussed in
more detail below. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

The Company’s pre-tax results from continuing operations for the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003 are summarized below (in thousands of dollars):

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 $ Change % Change
Revenues:
Auction and related revenues.............. $443,130 $308,990 $134,140 43%
License fee revenues....................... 45,745 — 45,745 *
Other revenues .............cooiiiiie 7,845 8,354 (509) -6%
Total revenues ........................ 496,720 317,344 179,376 57%
EXPenSES . oottt e it ve et iee i 370,058 324,770 45,288 _14%
Operating income (108s) ...........coovvvennnn., 126,662 (7,426) 134,088 *
Net interest expense and other................. ~(30,009)  (29,661) (348) 1%
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before taxes ...................... $ 96,653 $(37,087) $133,740 _*

* Represents a change in excess of 100%.

The improvement in the Company’s results from continuing operations during 2004 was due to
increased auction and related revenues principally resulting from a significant improvement in
auction sales during the spring and fall auction seasons, as well as a higher level of private sale
commissions. Also favorably influencing the comparison of 2004 results to the prior year is a $45
million one-time license fee earned in the first quarter of 2004 in conjunction with the sale of the
Company’s domestic real estate brokerage business, as well as significantly lower employee
retention costs and restructuring charges. The overall improvement in the Company’s full year
results was partially offset by increased incentive bonus costs and costs associated with the
Company’s option exchange program, as well as higher professional fees and employee benefit
costs.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company’s pre-tax income from discontinued
operations was $38.8 million; a significant improvement when compared to the same period in 2003
when the Company’s discontinued operations had pre-tax income of approximately $9.4 million.
This improvement was largely due to a pre-tax gain of $32 million recognized principally on the
sale of the Company’s discontinued domestic real estate brokerage business. (See “Sale of Real
Estate Brokerage Business” below and Note C of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Please refer to the discussion below for a more detailed discussion of the significant factors
impacting the Company’s results for the year ended December 31, 2004.

13




Impact of Foreign Currency Translations

For the year ended December 31, 2004, income from continuing operations before taxes
increased $133.7 million to $96.7 million, when compared to the same period in the prior year.
During 2004, the favorable impact of foreign currency translations on income from continuing
operations before taxes was approximately $4.3 million. Excluding the favorable impact of foreign
currency translations, income from continuing operations before taxes increased $129.4 million to
$92.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

During 2004, the favorable impact of foreign currency translations on income from continuing
operations before taxes was comprised of the following (in thousands of dollars):

Favorable/
Year ended December 31, 2004 (Unfavorahle)
TOtAl TEVEMUES . vttt ittt it ettt e s sttt s anneeaaneeerneanns $ 21,632
Total eXPenses . ... ... e (17,398)
Operating iNCOMIE. . ...\ iuiii it 4,234
Net interest expense and other ..............c.oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiian, 98
Income from continuing operations before taxes..................... $ 4332

Sale of Real Estate Brokerage Business

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan to sell SIR, its domestic real
estate brokerage business, as well as most of its real estate brokerage offices outside of the U.S.
On February 17, 2004, the Company consummated the sale of SIR to a subsidiary of Cendant. In
conjunction with the sale, the Company entered into an agreement with Cendant to license the
Sotheby’s International Realty trademark and certain related trademarks for an initial 50-year term
with a 50-year renewal option (the “License Agreement”). Initially, the License Agreement was
applicable to Canada, Israel, Mexico, the U.S. and certain Caribbean countries. Also in conjunction
with the sale, Cendant received options to acquire most of the other non-U.S. offices of the
Company’s real estate brokerage business and to expand the License Agreement to cover the
related trademarks in other countries outside the U.S., excluding Australia and New Zealand (the
“International Options”). The International Options were exercised by Cendant during 2004.

The total consideration paid by Cendant at closing for SIR’s company-owned real estate
brokerage business and affiliate network, as well as the License Agreement and the International
Options was $100.7 million, consisting of $98.9 million in cash and the assumption of a $1.8 million
note payable. Net cash proceeds from the sale, after deducting $4.9 million in transaction costs,
were $94.0 million. In addition to the consideration received at closing, the License Agreement
provides for an ongoing license fee during its term based on the volume of commerce transacted
under the licensed trademarks. (See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for a discussion of
the Company’s expected use of the proceeds received at closing.)

The consideration received at closing was allocated among each of the following components
based on a valuation of their respective fair values: (i) SIR’s company-owned real estate brokerage
business and affiliate network, (ii) the License Agreement and (iii) the International Options.
Based on this valuation, $55.1 million was allocated to SIR’s company-owned real estate brokerage
business and affiliate network, $45 million was allocated to the License Agreement and $0.6
million was allocated to the International Options.

As a result of the sale of the real estate brokerage business and affiliate network to Cendant,
the Company recognized a pre-tax gain of $32 million, which is recorded within income from
discontinued operations before taxes in the Consolidated Income Statements. As a result of this
gain, the Company utilized approximately $14.2 million of the net deferred tax asset related to its
net operating loss carryforwards.

The $45 million of proceeds allocated to the License Agreement represents a one-time non-
refundable upfront license fee received by the Company as consideration for entering into the
License Agreement. The Company has no significant future performance obligations associated
with the non-refundable upfront license fee. As a result, the Company recognized license fee
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revenue of $45 million in the first quarter of 2004, which is classified within the continuing
operations section of the Consolidated Income Statements. This classification is consistent with how
the Company will report ongoing license fees earned during the term of the License Agreement,
as well as license fee revenue earned in the future from other potential licensing opportunities. As
a result of this one-time license fee, the Company utilized approximately $15.2 million of the net
deferred tax asset related to its net operating loss carryforwards during the first quarter of 2004.
The Company incurred transaction costs of approximately $2.2 million related to the consummation
of the License Agreement principally in the first quarter of 2004, which are recorded within
general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statements.

Similar to the license fee received by the Company in connection with the License Agreement,
the $0.6 million of proceeds allocated to the International Options represents a one-time non-
refundable upfront license fee received by the Company for Cendant’s use of the Sotheby’s
International Realty trademarks in countries outside the U.S. (excluding Australia and New
Zealand). As a result of the exercise of the International Options by Cendant discussed above, the
Company recognized license fee revenue of $0.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2004, which is
classified within the continuing operations section of the Consolidated Income Statements. This
classification is consistent with how the Company will report ongoing license fees earned as a
result of Cendant’s use of the trademarks.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company committed to a plan to sell its real estate
brokerage business in Australia. This business is the only remaining component of the Company’s
former Real Estate segment. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the Australia real estate
brokerage business are classified as held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and its
operating results are reported as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Income Statements.
The Australia real estate brokerage business is not material to the Company’s results of
operations, financial condition or liquidity.

(See Note C of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”)
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Revenues

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, revenues from continuing operations
consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 $ Change % Change
Auction and related revenues:
Auction commission revenues......... $ 383,142 §$§ 273,525 $§ 109,617 40%
Auction expense recoveries ........... 17,633 15,296 2,337 15%
Private sale commissions.............. 22,510 5,360 17,150 *
Principal activities .................... 2,603 1,830 773 42%
Catalogue subscription revenues ...... 9,700 8,862 838 9%
Other........iiiii i, 7,542 4,117 3,425 _83%
Total auction and related
TEVENMUES .....oovvnrrannrnnnnn., 443,130 308,990 134,140 _43%
License fee revenues ...............c.vvunn. 45,745 — 45,745 *
Other revenues:
Finance segment revenues ............ 5,907 5,310 597 11%
Other........cooiiiiiiii i, 1,938 3,044 (1,106) -36%
Total other revenues ............. 7,845 8,354 (509 6%
Total revenues ............... $ 496,720 $ 317344 $ 179,376 _57%
Key performance indicators:
Aggregate Auction Sales ** ............... $2,694,544 $1,690,655 $1,003,889 59%
Net Auction Sales *** . ... ............... $2,334,937 $1,455970 $ 878,967 60%
Auction commission margin ****. . ........ 16.4% 18.8% N/A -13%
Average loan portfolio .................... $ 82519 $§ 86564 $§ (4,045) -5%
Legend:

* Represents a change in excess of 100%.

**  Represents the hammer (sale) price of property sold at auction plus buyer’s
premium.

##%  Represents the hammer (sale) price of property sold at auction.

*x¥% Represents total auction commission revenues as a percentage of Net Auction Sales.

Auction and Related Revenues

For the year ended December 31, 2004, auction and related revenues increased $134.1 million,
or 43%, to $443.1 million, when compared to the same period in the prior year. During 2004, the
favorable impact of foreign currency translations on auction and related revenues was
approximately $21.3 million. Excluding the favorable impact of foreign currency translations,
auction and related revenues increased $112.8 million, or 37%, to $421.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004.

The increased level of auction and related revenues in 2004 was principally due to higher
auction commission revenues, as well as increased private sale commissions and, to a lesser extent,
increased catalogue subscription revenues and principal activities. Each of the significant factors
impacting the overall change in auction and related revenues for the year is explained in more
detail below.

Auction Commission Revenues—For the year ended December 31, 2004, auction commission
revenues increased $109.6 million, or 40%, to $383.1 million, when compared to the same period
in the prior year. During 2004, the favorable impact of foreign currency translations on auction
commission revenues was approximately $18.8 million. Excluding the impact of favorable foreign
currency translations, auction commission revenues increased $90.8 million, or 33%, to $364.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

The higher level of auction commission revenues during 2004 was largely attributable to a
significant increase in property sold at auction; partially offset by a decrease in auction commission
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margin. See “Aggregate Auction Sales” and “Auction Commission Margin” below for a detailed
discussion of these key performance indicators.

Aggregate Auction Sales—For the year ended December 31, 2004, Aggregate Auction Sales
increased $1,003.9 million, or 59%, to $2,694.5 million, when compared to the same period in the
prior year. During 2004, the favorable impact of foreign currency translations on Aggregate
Auction Sales was approximately $109.6 million. Excluding the favorable impact of foreign
currency translations, Aggregate Auction Sales increased $894.3 million, or 53%, to $2,584.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004.

The significant increase in Aggregate Auction Sales during 2004 reflects the continued recovery
of the international art market, as well as improved global economic conditions when compared to
the prior year. Specifically, the overall increase in Aggregate Auction Sales for the year ended
December 31, 2004 was favorably influenced by:

o The spring 2004 sales of property from the Greentree Foundation, which totaled
approximately $213.1 million in Aggregate Auction Sales and included the record breaking
sale of Pablo Picasso’s “Garcon a la Pipe” for $104.2 million and for which there was no
comparable sale in 2003.

e A $198.2 million, or 53%, increase in Aggregate Auction Sales related to the various-owner
spring and fall Impressionist and Contemporary sales in New York, as well as a $61.9
million, or 39%, improvement in the February and June Impressionist .and Contemporary
sales in London.

s The successful December 2004 American Paintings sale, which contributed $77.9 million to
the overall increase for the year and included the sale of John Singer Sargent’s “Group with
Parasols (A Siesta)” for $23.5 million.

¢ A $71.6 million increase in single-owner auction sales during the fourth quarter of 2004,
when compared to the same period in the prior year. This improvement was principally the
result of a series of successful single-owner sales in New York and in London for which
there were fewer comparable events in 2003.

o The successful July 2004 Old Master Paintings sale in London, which contributed $24.2
million to the overall increase for the period and included the sale of Johannes Vermeer’s
painting “Young Woman seated at the Virginals” for $30 million.

¢ Significantly improved various-owner sale results generated by the Company’s salesrooms in
Hong Kong, Geneva, Milan, Amsterdam and Paris, which contributed approximately $94
million to the overall increase for the year.

Auction Commission Margin—Auction commission margin represents total auction commission
revenues as a percentage of Net Auction Sales. Typically, auction commission margins are higher
for lower value works of art or collections, while higher valued property earns lower margins.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company experienced a 13% decrease in auction
commission margin when compared to the same period in the prior year. This decrease was
principally due to the fact that a significant portion of the increase in Net Auction Sales was at
the high-end of the Company’s business where auction commission margins are traditionally lower.
Several of the Impressionist and Contemporary collections offered during the spring and fall
seasons carried lower auction commission margins than comparable sales in the recent past. This
was primarily due to the competitive environment, as well as the Company’s decision to reduce its
auction guarantee risk through sharing arrangements with partners, whereby the Company reduces
its financial exposure under the auction guarantee in exchange for sharing in the auction
commissions with the partner. At certain times, the partner will also assist the Company in valuing
and marketing the property to be sold at auction. Both of these factors significantly contributed to
a $30.8 million increase in auction commissions owed or paid by the Company to unaffiliated third
parties.

Effective January 1, 2005, the Company increased its buyer’s premium charged on certain
auction sales. In salesrooms in the U.S., the buyer’s premium is now 20% of the hammer (sale)

17




price on the first $200,000 and 12% of any remaining amount over $200,000. In foreign salesrooms,
these U.S. dollar thresholds were translated into an appropriate fixed local currency amount upon
the effective date. Previously, the buyer’s premium charged on auction sales was generally 20% of
the hammer (sale) price on the first $100,000 and 12% of any remaining amount over $100,000.
The Company expects this change to the buyer’s premium rate structure to result in an increase in
2005 auction commission revenues (see statement on Forward Looking Statements). On

January 17, 2005, the Company’s increase in buyer’s premium rates was matched by Christie’s.

Private Sale Commissions—For the year ended December 31, 2004, private sale commissions
increased $17.2 million to $22.5 million when compared to the same period in the prior year. The
higher level of private sale activity for the period reflects the traditionally variable nature of such
sales, as well as management’s expanded efforts in this area. Most significantly, 2004 results include
the landmark private sale of the Forbes Collection of Faberge. Also favorably influencing the
comparison of private sale commissions to the prior year is the February 2004 sale of Raphael’s
“Madonna of the Pinks” to the National Gallery in London, as well as several other significant
private sales for which there were no comparable events in the prior year.

Principal Activities—Principal activities consist mainly of gains or losses on sales of inventory,
income or loss related to auction guarantees and gains or losses related to the sales of loan
collateral, as well as any decreases in the carrying value of the Company’s inventory. The level of
principal activities in a period is largely attributable to the level of auction guarantees issued by
the Company, as well as the economic environment, the supply of quality property available for
investment and resale and the demand by buyers for such property.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, principal activities increased $0.8 million, or 42%, to
$2.6 million when compared to the same period in the prior year. This increase was partially due
to a $1.8 million gain recognized in May 2004 on the sale of a painting purchased by the
Company for investment purposes, for which there was no comparable event in the prior year.
Also favorably impacting the comparison of principal activities to the prior year is a $0.8 million
improvement in resuits from the sale of property purchased in partnership with art dealers.
Generally, property purchased pursuant to such partnerships is sold directly by the dealer or at
auction with any net profit or loss shared by the Company and the dealer. The overall increase in
principal activities in 2004 was partially offset by less favorable auction guarantee experience
during the year, which reduced principal activities by approximately $1.1 million.

License Fee Revenues

In the first quarter of 2004, the Company recognized revenue of $45 million related to a
one-time license fee received as consideration for entering into an agreement with Cendant to
license the Sotheby’s International Realty trademark and certain related trademarks. Additionally,
in the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company recognized $0.6 million of license fee revenue as a
result of Cendant’s exercise of the International Options. (See “Sale of Real Estate Brokerage
Business” above and Note C of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Other Revenues

For the year ended December 31, 2004, other revenues decreased $0.5 million, or 6%, when
compared to the same period in the prior year. During 2004, the favorable impact of foreign
currency translations on other revenues was approximately $0.4 million. Excluding the favorable
impact of foreign currency translations, other revenues decreased $0.9 million, or 10%, for the year
ended December 31, 2004. This decrease was principally due to a reduction in art education
revenues resulting from the sale of the Company’s U.K. art education business on September 30,
2003, partially offset by a $0.4 million, or 7%, increase in Finance segment revenues, as discussed
in more detail below.

Finance Segment Revenues—For the year ended December 31, 2004, the overall increase in
Finance segment revenues was principally due to $1 million in interest income recognized in the
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second quarter of 2004 as a result of the collection of a disputed client loan, for which there was
no comparable event in the prior year; partially offset by the impact of a 5% decrease in the
average loan portfolio balance and lower interest rates charged on certain significant client loans.
See “Average Loan Portfolio” below for a detailed discussion of this key performance indicator.

Average Loan Portfolio—For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Finance segment’s
average loan portfolio balance decreased $4.0 million, or 5%, when compared to the same period
in the prior year. Although this represents only a marginal decrease when compared to the prior
year, 2004 marks the continuation of a four-year trend in which the Finance segment’s average
loan portfolio decreased by approximately 56%. This decrease was principally due to the limited
availability of cash to fund new loans prior to the initiation of the GE Capital Credit Agreement
and the consummation of the sale of the Company’s domestic real estate brokerage business in the
first quarter of 2004. The Company’s present intention is to expand the Finance segment’s loan
portfolio. Management is now actively marketing the Finance segment’s loan program to potential
new clients and is considering partnership arrangements with unaffiliated third parties in order to
generate growth. (See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and statement on Forward Looking
Statements.)

Expenses
For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, expenses from continuing operations
consisted of the following (in thousands of dollars):

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 $ Change % Change
Direct costs of services .........coeiveveianinn. $ 55526 §$ 45631 $ 9,895 22%
Salaries and related costs ..............oiiinn 177,583 143,540 34,043 24%
General and administrative expenses............ 110,760 93,661 17,099 18%
Depreciation and amortization expense ......... 23,830 25,321 (1,491) 6%
Retention COStS ....vvvvriritiiiiiiiiiieneinenn, 285 8,466  (8,181) -97%
Net restructuring charges ....................... 146 5,039  (4,893) -97%
Special charges............ccoiiiiiiieininenan... 1,928 3,112 (1,184) -38%

Total eXpPenses. ......ooveevneeineneeneniins $370,058 $324,770 $45,288 _14%

Direct Costs of Services

Direct costs of services consist largely of catalogue production and distribution costs, as well
as sale marketing costs and corporate marketing expenses. The level of direct costs incurred in any
period is generally dependent upon the volume and composition of the Company’s auction sales.
For example, direct costs attributable to the sale of single-owner collections are typically higher
than those associated with various-owner sales mainly due to higher promotional costs for
catalogues, special events and traveling exhibitions.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, direct costs increased $9.9 million, or 22%, to $55.5
million, when compared to the same period in the prior year. During 2004, the unfavorable impact
of foreign currency translations on direct costs was approximately $2.9 million. Excluding the
unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations, direct costs increased $7.0 million, or 15%, to
$52.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

The increased level of direct costs is consistent with the higher level of sales activity, and in
particular single-owner sales, during 2004. For example, direct costs for the year ended
December 31, 2004 included $1.2 million in catalogue production, advertising and promotional costs
related to single-owner sales of property from the Greentree Foundation, for which there was no
comparable sale in the prior year. The overall increase in direct costs for the year was partially
offset by $0.9 million in cost reductions achieved as a result of the elimination of direct costs
associated with the Company’s former e-commerce and UK. art education activities.
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Salaries and Related Costs

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, salaries and related costs consisted of the
following (in thousands of dollars):

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 $ Change % Change
Full-time salaries..............ccoiiiiiiir s, $ 98383 §$ 96,134 $ 2,249 2%
Employee benefits ................ ..ol 19,326 15,174 4,152 27%
Payroll taxes ..........oevrieiiiniiiniiiinaan. 13,332 10,680 2,652 25%
Incentive bonus costs ................ ... .. ... 25,909 10,364 15,545 *
Option Exchange ..............c.cociiiiiiin. 7,688 — 7,688 *
Stock compensation eXpense .................... 1,098 387 711 *
Other ..o e 11,847 10,801 1,046 10%
Total salaries and related costs ............. $177,583 $143540 $34,043 24%

* Represents a change in excess of 100%.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, salaries and related costs increased $34.0 million, or
24%, to $177.6 million, when compared to the same period in the prior year. During 2004, the
unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations on salaries and related costs was approximately
$8.7 million. Excluding the impact of unfavorable foreign currency translations, salaries and related
costs increased $25.3 million, or 18%, to $168.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
This increase was principally due to significantly higher incentive bonus costs. Additionally, costs
associated with the Company’s option exchange program, a higher level of employee benefit costs
and increased payroll taxes significantly contributed to the overall increase for the year. These
increases were partially offset by lower full-time salaries (excluding the unfavorable impact of
foreign currency translations).

The overall variance versus the prior year is indicative of an evolution in the Company’s
compensation philosophy whereby a greater proportion of employee compensation is variable,
dependent upon the Company’s profitability. This trend will continue in 2005, as discussed below
under “Incentive Bonus Costs,” and as recent changes take effect for the Sotheby’s, Inc.
Retirement Savings Plan, a defined contribution pension plan qualified under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (See Note N of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for a more detailed discussion of the
Sotheby’s, Inc. Retirement Savings Plan.)

See discussion below for a more detailed explanation of each of the factors that contributed
to the unfavorable variance versus the prior year.

Incentive Bonus Costs—For the year ended December 31, 2004, incentive bonus costs
increased $15.5 million, when compared to the same period in the prior year. The significant
increase in incentive bonus costs is consistent with the Company’s substantial improvement in
overall results versus the prior year and also reflects performance-based compensation awarded
principally in the first quarter of 2004 in connection with the high level of private sale transactions
during the period. This increase is indicative of an evolution in the Company’s compensation
philosophy whereby a greater proportion of employee compensation is variable, dependent upon
the Company’s profitability. This trend will continue in 2005 as effective January 1, 2005 the
Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee”)
approved, subject to shareholder approval, the adoption of the Executive Bonus Plan (the “EBP”).
The EBP provides eligible key executives with the opportunity to earn performance bonuses based
on certain targeted levels of the Company’s financial performance. Target performance goals under
the EBP will be established annually and measured in terms of designated levels of net income or
other financial performance criteria as determined by the Compensation Committee. The Company
intends that performance bonuses will generally be payable under the EBP only if the Company’s
financial plan for that year, as approved by the Company’s Board of Directors, has been achieved.
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For any performance bonus awarded under the EBP, an amount equal to 50% of the
performance bonus will be payable in cash in a lump sum payment with the remaining 50%
payable as an award of restricted stock granted under the Restricted Stock Plan. Restricted stock
shares granted under the EBP will vest ratably after each of the first, second and third years
following the date of grant. On February 7, 2005, the Compensation Committee approved the
formula by which any performance bonus awarded under the EBP will be determined for the year
ended December 31, 2005.

Option Exchange Program—In February 2003, the Compensation Committee approved an
exchange offer of cash or restricted stock for certain stock options held by eligible employees
under the 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “Exchange Offer”). The Exchange Offer was tendered
during the first half of 2004.

As a result of the Exchange Offer, approximately 5.6 million stock options were cancelled and
1.1 million shares of restricted stock were issued. The restricted stock shares were issued pursuant
to the Restricted Stock Plan upon acceptance of the Exchange Offer at the closing market price of
the Company’s Class A Common Stock on that date and resulted in the recording of deferred
compensation expense and additional paid-in capital of approximately $14 million. The amount
recorded as deferred compensation expense is being amortized to salaries and related costs over
the restricted stock’s four-year graded vesting period.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recognized stock compensation expense
of $5.5 million related to the Exchange Offer. The cash payment made in conjunction with the
Exchange Offer was approximately $2.2 million and was expensed in full upon acceptance on
March 31, 2004. The amortization of stock compensation expense related to the Exchange Offer is
expected to be approximately $4.7 million, $2.5 million and $1.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

(See Note M of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” for a more detailed discussion of the 1997 Stock Option
Plan and the Restricted Stock Plan.)

Employee Benefits—For year ended December 31, 2004, employee benefits increased $4.2
million, or 27%, when compared to the same period in the prior year. The higher level of
employee benefits in 2004 was due in part to a $1.9 million increase in severance costs principally
due to termination benefits paid as a result of headcount reductions in Continental Europe and
North America. Also unfavorably impacting the comparison of employee benefits to the prior year
is a $1.6 million increase in costs related to the Company’s U.K. defined benefit pension plan (see
Note N of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data”), as well as increased medical and pension benefit costs for U.S. employees.
The overall increase in employee benefits for 2004 was partially offset by lower benefits costs
achieved as a result of headcount reductions taking effect throughout 2003.

In 2005, management currently anticipates an increase of approximately $2.6 million in costs
related to the U.K. defined benefit pension plan principally due to higher interest costs and the
amortization of unrecognized losses in accordance with SFAS No. 87. (See “Critical Accounting
Estimates” above and statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

As a result of the recent unfavorable trend in employee benefit costs in the U.S., effective
January 1, 2005, management implemented changes to certain of its health and retirement benefit
plans in an effort to contain costs in this area. For example, certain of the Company’s
contributions to its pension plans for U.S. employees will now be determined at the Company’s
discretion and will vary depending on the Company’s profitability. Previously, such contributions
were determined as a fixed percentage of an employee’s eligible compensation.

Full-Time Salaries—For the year ended December 31, 2004, full-time salaries increased $2.2
million, or 2%, to $98.4 million, when compared to the same period in the prior year. During
2004, the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations on full-time salaries was
approximately $5.2 million. Excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations, full-
time salaries decreased $3 million, or 3%, to $93.2 million. The lower level of full-time salaries
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(excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations) was principally due to savings
achieved as a result of headcount reductions taking effect throughout 2003.

Payroll Taxes—For the year ended December 31, 2004, payroll taxes increased $2.7 million, or
25%, when compared to the same period in the prior year. This increase was principally due to
incremental payroll taxes incurred as a result of the higher level of incentive bonus costs, as well
as payroll taxes related to the option exchange program.

Stock Compensation Expense—For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the
Company recognized stock compensation expense of $1.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively,
related to restricted stock shares granted pursuant to the Restricted Stock Plan (excluding shares
issued in conjunction with the Exchange Offer discussed above). In 2005, the amortization of stock
compensation expense related to such restricted stock is expected to be approximately $3.7 million.
(See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

General and Administrative Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2004, general and administrative expenses increased $17.1
million, or 18%, to $110.8 million, when compared to the same period in the prior year. During
2004, the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations on general and administrative
expenses was approximately $5.2 million. Excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign currency
translations, general and administrative expenses increased $11.9 million, or 13%, to $105.6 million.

In 2004, the overall increase in general and administrative expenses was principally due to a
$9.6 million increase in professional fees, which was largely attributable to the following factors:

¢ $4.1 million in external costs incurred as a result of the Company’s implementation of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As a portion of these costs are non-recurring and
relate solely to the initial year of implementation, management expects such costs to
decrease in 2005. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

¢ $2.2 million of transaction costs related to the consummation of the Company’s agreement
with Cendant to license the Sotheby’s International Realty trademark and certain related
trademarks (see “Sale of Real Estate Brokerage Business” above and Note C of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data”).

¢ $1.5 million in consulting costs related to the outsourced management of the Company’s
catalogue production operations to an unaffiliated third party, allowing the Company to
achieve improved quality along with cost efficiencies and headcount reductions in this area.

¢ An overall higher level of other legal and consulting costs incurred during the year related
to various projects, initiatives and legal matters.

Also unfavorably impacting the comparison to the prior period was a $3.6 million increase in
non-recurring client goodwill gestures, authenticity claims and litigation settlements, as well as a
$1.4 million increase in travel and entertainment costs principally due to the higher level of
business opportunities during the year. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2004,
property taxes related to the Company’s headquarters building at 1334 York Avenue in New York
increased $1.1 million as a result of a tax reassessment that became effective on July 1, 2004. As a
result of this reassessment, property taxes related to the York Property will increase by a similar
amount in 2005. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

The overall increase in general and administrative expenses for the year was partially offset by
an insurance recovery of approximately $4 million recorded in the second quarter of 2004 related
to the collateral underlying a loan for which the Company recorded a loan loss reserve of $9
million in the fourth quarter of 2000 and subsequently wrote off in the first quarter of 2001. To a
lesser extent, the comparison of general and administrative expenses to the prior year is also
favorably impacted by the recovery of $1 million in previously paid real estate taxes in the U.K.
recorded in the third quarter of 2004, as well as $0.9 million in cost savings achieved as a result of
the discontinuation of the Company’s former e-commerce and U.K. art education activities.
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Depreciation and Amortization Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2004, depreciation and amortization expense decreased $1.5
million, or 6%, to $23.8 million, when compared to the same period in the prior year. During
2004, the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations on depreciation and amortization
expense was approximately $0.6 million. Excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign currency
translations, depreciation and amortization expense decreased $2.1 million, or 8%, to $23.2 million.
This decrease was principally due to the impact of fixed assets that became fully depreciated in
2003 and 2004, partially offset by the impact of capital expenditures in those periods.

Retention Costs

In 2001 and 2002, the Company implemented retention programs that provided cash awards
payable to certain key employees upon fulfillment of full-time employment through certain dates.
All amounts related to the retention programs were amortized over the corresponding contractual
service periods. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized
retention costs of $0.3 million and $8.5 million, respectively.

The final cash payment of $0.4 million due under the retention programs was made in January
2004 and, as a result, the retention programs have concluded.

Net Restructuring Charges

During the fourth quarter of 2002, management approved plans to further restructure the
Auction segment, as well as to carry out additional headcount reductions in certain corporate
departments (the “2002 Restructuring Plan”). The goal of the 2002 Restructuring Plan was to
improve profitability through further cost savings and other strategic actions. Net annual cost
savings achieved as a result of the 2002 Restructuring Plan were approximately $17 million. For
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded net restructuring charges of
$0.1 million and $5.0 million, respectively, related to the 2002 Restructuring Plan. (See Note T of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item &, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”)

Special Charges

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded special charges of
$1.9 million and $3.1 million, respectively, primarily for settlement administration costs and legal
fees related to the investigation by the Antitrust Division of the U.S. Department of Justice (the
“D0J”), other governmental investigations and the related civil antitrust litigation. (See Note R of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data,” for information related to special charges.)

Net Interest Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2004, net interest expense was essentially unchanged when
compared to the same period in the prior year as increases of approximately $0.7 million to both
interest expense and interest income largely offset each other.

The increase in interest expense was primarily due to $1.8 million in additional interest
expense related to the York Property capital lease obligation that was initiated in February 2003,
as well as an additional $1.1 million in interest expense related to the vendor’s commission
discount certificates issued as part of the U.S. Antitrust Litigation settlement in May 2003 (see
Note R of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data”). These increases were partially offset by a $2.0 million reduction in interest
expense associated with the Company’s credit facility principally resulting from lower average
outstanding borrowings.

The increase in interest income was primarily attributable to higher average cash balances
throughout the year and slightly higher interest rates, partially offset by $0.7 million in interest
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income recorded in the prior year related to a delinquent client account that was determined to be
collectible, for which there was no comparable event in the current year.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

The effective tax rate for continuing operations was approximately 36% in 2004, compared to
approximately 30% in 2003. The change in the effective tax rate was primarily attributable to non-
deductible payments related to the antitrust settlement, changes in the valuation allowance related
to foreign taxes and stock option deductions, permanent disallowances of employee compensation
and certain other one time adjustments. (See Notes K and R of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 AND 2002

Aggregate Auction Sales—For the year ended December 31, 2003, Aggregate Auction Sales
totaled $1,690.7 million, a decrease of $83.6 million, or 5%, when compared to 2002. During 2003,
the favorable impact of foreign currency translations on Aggregate Auction Sales was
approximately $89.8 million. Excluding the favorable impact of foreign currency translations,
Aggregate Auction Sales decreased $173.4 million, or 10%, to $1,600.9 million.

The lower level of Aggregate Auction Sales during 2003 was primarily due to a $103.9 million,
or 44%, decline in Aggregate Auction Sales attributable to single-owner collections and an $85.7
million, or 41%, decrease in results from the spring Impressionist and Contemporary sales in New
York, both in part attributable to global economic uncertainties related to the build up to the war
in Iraq. The comparison of Aggregate Auction Sales to the prior year was also negatively
influenced by a significant decrease in results from the July Old Master Paintings sale in London,
which in 2002 included the sale of Sir Peter Paul Rubens’ masterpiece “The Massacre of the
Innocents” for $77 million and for which there was no comparable painting sold in 2003.
Additionally, the comparison of Aggregate Auction Sales to the prior year was unfavorably
impacted by the discontinuation on April 30, 2003 of separate online auctions on sothebys.com as
part of the 2002 Restructuring Plan, which resulted in a $27.9 million decrease in Aggregate
Auction Sales in 2003 (see Note T of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”).

These decreases were partially offset by a $112.0 million improvement in 2003 in fourth
quarter various-owner Aggregate Auction Sales principally attributable to a late-year recovery in
the international art market. Specifically, Aggregate Auction Sales for the fourth quarter of 2003
reflected an $80.1 million, or 48%, increase in results from the fall Impressionist and
Contemporary sales in New York, as well as improved results from the December Old Master
Paintings sale in London.

Auction and Related Revenues—Auction and related revenues increased $12.2 million, or 4%,
to $309.0 million in 2003 when compared to 2002. During 2003, the favorable impact of foreign
currency translations on auction and related revenues was $18.4 million. Excluding the favorable
impact of foreign currency translations, auction and related revenues decreased $6.2 million, or
2%, to $290.6 million in 2003. This decrease was principally due to a $4.2 million decline in
principal activities, as well as a $3.6 million decrease in private treaty revenues. The decline in
principal activities was mainly due to a lower level of auction guarantees issued in 2003, as well as
a $1.1 million writedown recorded in the fourth quarter of 2003 for inventory purchased for resale.
Despite the significant decrease in Aggregate Auction Sales in 2003, the revenue decreases
discussed above were partially offset by a $1.7 million, or 1%, increase in auction commissions
principally due to improved commission margins resulting from a change in the buyer’s premium
rate structure that became effective in January 2003, higher vendor’s commission rates, reduced
shared and introductory auction commissions and a favorable change in sales mix.

Other Revenues—Other revenues decreased $2.4 million, or 22%, to $8.4 million in 2003 when
compared to 2002. This decrease was principally due to a $1.5 million decrease in revenues from
the Company’s U.K. art education business, which was sold in September 2003, as well as a $0.7
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million, or 12%, decline in revenues from the Finance segment. The decline in Finance revenues
was primarily due to a 6% decrease in the average loan portfolio balance, slightly lower interest
rates and decreased loan facility fees. The decrease in the average loan portfolio balance was
primarily due to a conservative loan policy in response to an uncertain economy in the early part
of 2003 and limited capital availability.

Direct Costs of Services—Direct costs of services decreased $7.0 million, or 13%, to $45.6
million in 2003 when compared to 2002. During 2003, the unfavorable impact of foreign currency
translations on direct costs was approximately $3.2 million. Excluding the unfavorable impact of
foreign currency translations, direct costs decreased $10.2 million, or 19%, to $42.4 million in 2003.
This decrease was largely attributable to $5.1 million in savings achieved in marketing costs
principally due to management’s efforts to reduce discretionary spending in response to the lower
level of Aggregate Auction Sales and the discontinuation on April 30, 2003 of separate online
auctions on sothebys.com as part of the 2002 Restructuring Plan (see Note T of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”).
Additionally, 2003 results reflected a $2.6 million reduction in catalogue production costs primarily
resulting from a lower number of lots offered at auction, as well as the Company’s catalogue
savings initiatives, which were gradually implemented throughout most of 2002. The comparison of
direct costs to 2002 was also favorably impacted by the significant decrease in sales of single-owner
collections, which are typically more expensive due to higher catalogue production, sale promotion
and exhibition costs.

Salaries and Related Costs—Salaries and related costs increased $4.3 million, or 3%, to $143.5
million in 2003 when compared to 2002. During 2003, the unfavorable impact of foreign currency
translations on salaries and related costs was approximately $7.5 million. Excluding the unfavorable
impact of foreign currency translations, salaries and related costs decreased $3.2 million, or 2%, to
$136.0 million in 2003. This decrease was largely due to savings achieved in the Auction segment
as a result of the 2002 Restructuring Plan (see Note T of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”) and management’s
other cost containment efforts. These savings were partially offset by approximately $1.7 million in
additional compensation expense that became effective in July 2003, as well as $0.7 million for
one-time payments made to a group of key employees in July 2003. Also unfavorably impacting
the comparison to 2002 was an increase of approximately $1.7 million in costs related to the
Company’s defined benefit pension plan for U.K. employees (see Note N of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”). Additionally,
salaries and related costs for 2003 reflected increased incentive bonus costs of $1.4 million,
employee termination benefits of $1.0 million related to further headcount reductions and stock
compensation expense of $0.4 million related to the Restricted Stock Plan (see Note M of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data”).

General and Administrative Expenses—General and administrative expenses increased $4.1
million, or 5%, to $93.7 million in 2003 when compared to 2002. During 2003, the unfavorable
impact of foreign currency translations on general and administrative expenses was $4.6 million.
Excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations, general and administrative
expenses decreased $0.5 million, or 1%, to $89.1 million. This decrease was largely attributable to
savings of $3.1 million achieved in travel and entertainment expenses principally due to headcount
reductions resulting from the Company’s restructuring plans and management’s other efforts to
reduce discretionary spending. Also favorably impacting the comparison to the prior period was
$1.8 million in savings achieved in computer systems development expenses and
telecommunications costs, as well as a $0.9 million reduction in other general and administrative
expenses. These favorable variances were partially offset by a $2.2 million increase in professional
fees, a $1.9 million increase in facility related expenses and a $0.7 million increase in insurance
costs. The increase in professional fees was principally due to costs incurred related to the
implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and professional fees related to the
Exchange Offer for which there were no comparable expenses in the prior year. The increase in
facility related expenses was principally due to the commercial rent tax associated with the York
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Property capital lease (see Notes H and L of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”), as well as higher heating costs for the
York Property as a result of colder temperatures in the winter of 2003. Also unfavorably impacting
the comparison to the prior year was slightly unfavorable bad debt experience in 2003, which
resulted in an adverse impact on general and administrative expenses of approximately $0.7
million.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense—Depreciation and amortization expense increased $3.5
million, or 16%, to $25.3 million in 2003 when compared to 2002. During 2003, the unfavorable
impact of foreign currency translations on depreciation and amortization expense was $0.7 million.
Excluding the unfavorable impact of foreign currency translations, depreciation and amortization
expense increased $2.8 million, or 13%, to approximately $24.6 million. The increase was
principally due to incremental amortization expense associated with the York Property capital lease
asset recorded in February 2003.

Retention Costs—In 2003 and 2002, the Company recognized expense of $8.5 million and $22.6
million, respectively, related to the Company’s former employee retention programs. (See Note S
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”)

Net Restructuring Charges—In 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded net restructuring charges
of $5.0 million and $2.0 million, respectively, related to its restructuring plans. (See Note T of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”)

Special Charges—In 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded special charges of $3.1 million and
$41.0 million, respectively, related to the investigation by the DOJ, other governmental
investigations and the related civil antitrust litigation. (See Note R of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Net Interest Expense—Net interest expense increased $10.2 million in 2003 when compared to
2002. This increase was primarily due to $16.1 million in interest expense resulting from the capital
lease obligation recorded in February 2003 in conjunction with the sale-leaseback transaction
involving the York Property (see Notes H and L of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” for additional information related to the
sale-leaseback transaction), as well as $1.8 million for the amortization of interest expense related
to the vendor’s commission discount certificates issued in June 2003 as part of the U.S. Antitrust
Litigation settlement (see Note R of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data”). These increases were partially offset by a $7.5 million
reduction in interest expense associated with the Company’s credit facility principally as a result of
decreased average outstanding borrowings and lower amortization of arrangement and amendment
fees.

Income Tax Benefit—The effective tax benefit rate for continuing operations was
approximately 29.7% in 2003, compared to approximately 25.7% in 2002. The increase in the tax
benefit rate was primarily attributable to the fact that in 2002 the fine paid to the European
Commission and a portion of the International Antitrust Litigation settlement were not tax
deductible. This increase was partially offset by permanent disallowances of compensation, as well
as certain one time adjustments in 2003 that decreased the effective tax benefit rate by
approximately 4%. (See Notes K and R of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Discontinued Operations—In 2003, income from discontinued operations before taxes increased
$1.3 million, or 17%, when compared to 2002. The improvement when compared to the prior year
was primarily due to a $3.1 million, or 8%, increase in revenues from the Company’s then existing
domestic real estate brokerage operations principally due to higher sales volume resulting from a
10.7% increase in unit sales and a 2.1% increase in the average selling price; partially offset by
decreased commission retention rates due to a greater portion of sales completed by senior agents
who earned a higher share of the gross commission. The higher level of revenues in 2003 was
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partially offset by higher salaries and related costs, including a $0.4 million increase in incentive
bonus costs and higher general and administrative costs primarily attributable to higher rent and
facility related charges.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2004

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows (see Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”).

For the year ended December 31, 2004, total cash and cash equivalents related to the
Company’s continuing and discontinued operations increased $81.6 million primarily due to the
factors discussed below.

Net cash provided by operations was $146.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
and was principally due to the Company’s income from continuing operations during the period,
and a $28.2 million increase in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities. The
increase in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities was mainly attributable to a
higher accrual of incentive bonus costs related to the significant improvement in the Company’s
full year results. Cash provided by operations was also significantly influenced by a $208.7 million
increase in due to consignors, partially offset by a $172.5 million increase in accounts receivable,
both principally due to auction sales occurring during the fall auction season and the timing of the
settlements of such sales. These cash inflows from operations were partially offset by a $19.3
million increase in inventory principally due to properties subject to auction guarantees totaling
$20.1 million that did not sell at auction in the fall auction season, as well as a $10.8 million
decrease in settlement liabilities. The decrease in settlement liabilities was principally due to a $6
million payment made in February 2004 to fund a portion of the fine payable to the DOJ, as well
as the redemption of $4.8 million of Discount Certificates (see Note R of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”). Also
contributing to the use of cash in operating activities was a $14.8 million increase in prepaid
expenses and other current assets principally attributable to the recording of a $12.5 million
receivable due from the Company’s partner in an auction guarantee.

Net cash used by investing activities was $55.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
and was principally due to the purchase of $110 million in short-term investments, the funding of
consignor advances during the period and $13.5 million in capital expenditures; partially offset by
$53.9 million in proceeds received from the sale of the Company’s domestic real estate brokerage
business on February 17, 2004 (see “Sale of Real Estate Brokerage Business” above and Note C
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data”) and the collection of maturing client loans during the period.

Net cash used by financing activities was $10.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
and was principally due to the net repayment of credit facility borrowings, partially offset by
proceeds received from the exercise of stock options.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

The following table summarizes the Company’s material contractual obligations and
commitments as of December 31, 2004:

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1to3 3to s After
Total One Year Years Years 5 Years

(Thousands of dollars)

Long-term debt (1):

Principal payments ..................o..... $100000 $§ — $ — $100,000 $ —
Interest payments .................cooo... 30,365 6,875 13,750 9,740 —
Sub-total ......oveiiii 130,365 6,875 13,750 109,740 —
Other commitments:

York Property capital lease (2)............ 406,959 18,025 38,551 39,899 310,484
Operating lease obligations (3) ............ 89,423 14,857 23,112 14,592 36,862
DOJ antitrust fine (4) ..................... 27,000 12,000 15,000 — —
Employment agreements (5)............... 5,063 3,375 1,688 — —
Sub-total .............coiiiiiL, 528,445 48257 78,351 54,491 347,346

Total ..ot $658,810 $55,132  $92,101 $164,231 $347,346

(1) Represents the aggregate outstanding principal and semi-annual interest payments due on the
Company’s long-term debt. (See Note J of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

(2) Represents rental payments due under the capital lease obligation for the York Property, as
discussed in Notes H and L of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8§,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

(3) Represents rental payments due under the Company’s operating lease obligations. (See Note L
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”)

(4) Represents the remaining fine payable to the DOJ. (See Note R of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

(5) Represents the remaining commitment for future salaries related to employment agreements
with a number of employees, excluding incentive bonuses. (See Note P of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.”)

The vendor’s commission discount certificates (the “Discount Certificates”) that were
distributed as part of the U.S. Antitrust Litigation settlement (see Note R of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”)
are fully redeemable in connection with any auction that is conducted by the Company or
Christie’s in the U.S. or the U.K. The Discount Certificates may be used to satisfy consignment
charges involving vendor’s commission, risk of loss and/or catalogue illustration. The Discount
Certificates will expire on May 14, 2008 and cannot be redeemed subsequent to that date;
however, any unused Discount Certificates may be redeemed for cash at their face value at any
time between May 15, 2007 and May 14, 2008. As of December 31, 2004, the outstanding face
value of unused Discount Certificates that the Company could be required to redeem was $57
million.

In February 2005, the Company extended the lease expiration date related to the lease for its
middle market auction salesroom at Olympia in Kensington, West London from June 2006 to June
2015. This extension will result in an increase of approximately $22 million in total operating lease
obligations.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Auction Guarantees

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, the Company will guarantee to
consignors a minimum price in connection with the sale of property at auction. The Company
must perform under its auction guarantee only in the event that the property sells for less than
the minimum price and, therefore, the Company must pay the difference between the sale price at
auction and the amount of the auction guarantee. If the property does not sell, the amount of the
auction guarantee must be paid, but the Company has the right to recover such amount through
the future sale of the property. Generally, the Company is entitled to a share of the excess
proceeds if the property under the auction guarantee sells above a minimum price. In addition, the
Company is obligated under the terms of certain auction guarantees to advance a portion of the
guaranteed amount prior to the auction. In certain situations, the Company reduces its financial
exposure under auction guarantees through sharing arrangements with unaffiliated partners.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had outstanding auction guarantees totaling
approximately $6.9 million, the property relating to which had a mid-estimate sales price (1) of
$7.8 million. The property related to such auction guarantees is being offered at auctions during
the first half of 2005. As of December 31, 2004, $1.7 million of the guaranteed amount had been
advanced by the Company and was recorded within notes receivable and consignor advances in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets (see Note E of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”).

As of March 2, 2005, the Company had outstanding auction guarantees totaling approximately
$22.1 million, the property relating to which had a mid-estimate sales price (1) of $24.4 million.
The Company’s financial exposure under these auction guarantees is reduced by $2.3 million as a
result of sharing arrangements with unaffiliated partners. The property related to such auction
guarantees is being offered at auctions in the first half of 2005. As of March 2, 2005, $3.1 million
of the guaranteed amount had been advanced by the Company, of which the Company will record
its $2.0 million share within notes receivable and consignor advances.

(1) The mid-estimate sales price is calculated as the average of the low and high pre-sale
auction estimates for the property under the auction guarantee. Pre-sale estimates are not
always accurate predictions of auction sale results.

(See Note Q of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

Lending Commitments

In certain situations, the Company’s Finance segment enters into legally binding arrangements
to lend, primarily on a collateralized basis and subject to certain limitations and conditions, to
potential consignors and other individuals who have collections of fine art or other objects.
Unfunded commitments to extend additional credit were approximately $9.7 million at
December 31, 2004. (See Note E of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8§,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company utilizes forward exchange contracts to manage exposures related to foreign
currency risks, which primarily arise from short-term foreign currency denominated intercompany
balances. Generally, such intercompany balances are centrally funded and settled through the
Company’s global treasury function. The Company’s objective for holding such derivative
instruments is to minimize foreign currency risks using the most effective methods to eliminate or
reduce the impacts of these exposures.

The forward exchange contracts entered into by the Company are used as economic cash flow
hedges of the Company’s exposure to short-term foreign currency denominated intercompany
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balances. Such forward exchange contracts are typically short-term with settlement dates no more
than one month from their inception. These contracts are not designated as hedging instruments
under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended, and are recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, which is
based on referenced market rates. Changes in the fair value of the Company’s forward exchange
contracts are recognized currently in earnings and are generally offset by the revaluation of the
underlying intercompany balances in accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency
Translation.”

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Consolidated Balance Sheets included $30,000 and
$0.3 million, respectively, recorded within prepaid expenses and other current assets reflecting the
fair value of the Company’s outstanding forward exchange contracts on those dates.

(See Note O of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

CONTINGENCIES

Legal Actions—The Canadian Competition Bureau is continuing to conduct an investigation
regarding anti-competitive practices relating to commissions charged by the Company and Christie’s
for auction services. In the opinion of management, this investigation is not expected to have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and/or
liquidity. (See Part I, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings” and Note R of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

The Company also becomes involved, from time to time, in various claims and lawsuits
incidental to the ordinary course of its business. In the opinion of management, any such claims
are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and/or liquidity.

Gain Contingency—During the third quarter of 2004, the Company signed an agreement for
the sale of land and buildings at Billingshurst, West Sussex in the U.K. known as the Sussex
Property. The completion of the sale is conditional upon the receipt of planning permission for
redevelopment of part of the site. If completed, the sale of the Sussex Property would result in a
pre-tax gain in the range of approximately $5 to $6 million. The Company expects this contingency
to be resolved some time in 2005.

(See “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” above for a discussion of the Company’s outstanding
auction guarantees.)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As discussed in more detail above, on February 17, 2004, the Company consummated the sale
of SIR, its domestic real estate brokerage business, and received net cash proceeds of
approximately $94.0 million. (See “Sale of Real Estate Brokerage Business” above and Note C of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”) On March 4, 2004, the Company used existing cash balances to repay the
remaining $20 million in borrowings outstanding under the senior secured term facility of its
former credit agreement (the “Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”). Additionally, on
March 4, 2004, the Company entered into a new senior secured credit agreement with General
Electric Capital Corporation (the “GE Capital Credit Agreement”). The GE Capital Credit
Agreement is available through March 4, 2007 and provides for borrowings of up to $200 million
provided by an international syndicate of lenders.

Borrowings under the GE Capital Credit Agreement are available for the funding of the
Company’s ordinary working capital requirements and general corporate needs. The Company paid
arrangement fees of $3.0 million related to the GE Capital Credit Agreement, which are being
amortized to interest expense over the three-year term of the agreement. The Company’s
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obligations under the GE Capital Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the assets
of the Company, as well as the assets of its subsidiaries in the U.S. and the U.K.

The GE Capital Credit Agreement contains financial covenants requiring the Company to not
exceed a specified level of annual capital expenditures and to have a quarterly fixed charge
coverage ratio of not less than 1.0. In December 2004, the GE Capital Credit Agreement was
amended to increase the permitted amount of annual capital expenditures from $10 million to $15
million. The GE Capital Credit Agreement also has certain non-financial covenants and
restrictions, including one that prohibits the Company from making dividend payments. The
Company is in compliance with its covenants.

At the option of the Company, borrowings under the GE Capital Credit Agreement generally
bear interest equal to: (i) 1.25% plus the higher of the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Rate
plus 0.5%, or (ii) LIBOR plus 2.75%. Beginning on March 31, 2003, on a quarterly basis, the
applicable interest rate charged for borrowings under the GE Capital Credit Agreement will be
adjusted up or down depending on the Company’s performance under the quarterly fixed charge
coverage ratio tests. Due to the Company’s favorable 2004 operating results, management
anticipates a 0.25% decrease in the cost of funds under the GE Capital Credit Agreement in 2005.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the GE Capital
Credit Agreement.

The Company generally relies on operating cash flows supplemented by borrowings to meet its
liquidity requirements. With the cash proceeds received upon the consummation of the sale of SIR
and borrowings available under the GE Capital Credit Agreement, the Company has considerably
more liquidity and financial flexibility than it has had in the recent past. It is the Company’s
present intention to use this additional liquidity to expand its loan portfolio. (See statement on
Forward Looking Statements.)

The Company currently believes that operating cash flows, current cash balances and
borrowings available under the GE Capital Credit Agreement will be adequate to meet its
short-term and long-term commitments, operating needs and capital requirements through March 4,
2007. Subsequent to March 4, 2007, management anticipates that the Company will extend or
renew the GE Capital Credit Agreement or obtain other forms of long term financing. (See
statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

The Company’s short-term operating needs and capital requirements include peak seasonal
working capital requirements, other short-term commitments to consignors, the potential funding of
the Company’s client loan portfolio and the funding of capital expenditures, as well as the
short-term commitments to be funded prior to January 1, 2006 included in the table of contractual
obligations above. Additionally in 2005, the Company currently expects to contribute between $13
million to $18 million to the U.K. defined benefit pension plan. Of the amount expected to be
contributed to the U.K. defined benefit plan in 2005, approximately $10 million to $15 million
would be a discretionary contribution in addition to the $3 million contribution agreed by
management and the plan’s trustees. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

The Company’s long-term operating needs and capital requirements include the potential
funding of the Company’s client loan portfolio and the funding of capital expenditures beyond the
next twelve months and through March 4, 2007, as well as the funding of the Company’s long-term
contractual obligations and commitments included in the table of contractual obligations above
through March 4, 2007.

In addition to the short-term and long-term operating needs and capital requirements
described above, the Company is obligated to fund the redemption of the Discount Certificates
distributed as part of the U.S. Antitrust Litigation settlement (see Note R of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”).
As discussed above, the Discount Certificates are fully redeemable in connection with any auction
that is conducted by the Company or Christie’s in the U.S. or the UK. The Discount Certificates
may be used to satisfy consignment charges involving vendor’s commission, risk of loss and/or
catalogue illustration. The Discount Certificates will expire on May 14, 2008 and cannot be
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redeemed subsequent to that date; however, any unused Discount Certificates may be redeemed
for cash at their face value at any time between May 15, 2007 and May 14, 2008. As of
December 31, 2004, the outstanding face value of unused Discount Certificates that the Company
could be required to redeem was approximately $57 million.

FACTORS AFFECTING OPERATING RESULTS AND LIQUIDITY

Operating results from the Company’s Auction and Finance segments, as well as the
Company’s liquidity, are significantly influenced by a number of factors, many of which are not
within the Company’s control. These factors, which are not ranked in any particular order, include:

The overall strength of the international economy and financial markets and, in particular,
the economies of the U.S., the UK., and the major countries or territories of Continental
Europe and Asia (principally Japan and Hong Kong);
Interest rates, particularly with respect to the Finance segment’s client loan portfolio and the
Company’s credit facility borrowings;
The impact of political conditions in various nations on the international economy and
financial markets;
Government laws and regulations which the Company is subject to, including, but not
limited to, import and export regulations, cultural patrimony laws and value added taxes;
The effects of foreign currency exchange rate movements;
The seasonality of the Company’s auction business;
Competition with other auctioneers and art dealers, specifically in relation to the following
factors:
(a) The level and breadth of expertise of the dealer or auction house with respect to the
property;
(b) The extent of the prior relationship, if any, between the seller and the firm;
(c) The reputation and historic level of achievement by a firm in attaining high sale
prices in the property’s specialized category;
(d) The desire for privacy on the part of sellers and buyers;
(e) The amount of cash offered by a dealer, auction house or other purchaser to
purchase the property outright;
(f) The level of auction guarantees or the terms of other financial options offered by
auction houses;
(g) The level of pre-sale estimates offered by auction houses;
(h) The desirability of a public auction in order to achieve the maximum possible price;
(i) The amount of commission proposed by dealers or auction houses to sell a work on
consignment;
(j) The cost, style and extent of presale marketing and promotion to be undertaken by a
firm,;
(k) Recommendations by third parties consulted by the seller;
() Relationships and personal interaction between the seller and the firm’s staff; and
(m) The availability and extent of related services, such as tax or insurance appraisal and
short-term financing.
The amount of quality property being consigned to art auction houses (and, in particular,
the number of single-owner sale consignments), as well as the ability of the Company to sell
such property, both of which factors can cause auction and related revenues to be highly
variable from period-to-period;
The demand for fine arts, decorative arts and collectibles;
The success of the Company in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, who have or
can develop relationships with certain potential sellers and buyers;
The success of the Company in retaining key members of management;
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¢ The demand for art-related financing;

¢ The uncertainty in future costs\related to the Company’s U.K. defined benefit pension plan,
as well as the impact of any decline in the equity markets or decrease in interest rates on
its assets and obligations;

e The impact of the variability in taxable income between the various jurisdictions where the
Company does business on its effective tax rate; and

¢ The ability of the Company to utilize its deferred tax assets.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains certain forward looking statements; as such term is defined in
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, relating to future events and the
financial performance of the Company. Such statements are only predictions and involve risks and
uncertainties, resulting in the possibility that the actual events or performance will differ materially
from such predictions. Major factors which the Company believes could cause the actual results to
differ materially from the predicted results in the forward looking statements include, but are not
limited to, the factors listed under “Factors Affecting Operating Results and Liquidity” above,
which are not ranked in any particular order.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company continually evaluates its market risk associated with its financial instruments and
forward exchange contracts during the course of its business. The Company’s financial instruments
include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term investments, notes receivable,
consignor advances, credit facility borrowings, long-term debt, the fine payable to the DOJ and the
settlement liability related to the Discount Certificates issued in connection with the U.S. Antitrust
Litigation. (See Note B of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8, “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” for information on the fair value of these financial
instruments.)

The Company believes that its interest rate risk is minimal as a hypothetical 10% increase or
decrease in interest rates is immaterial to the Company’s cash flow, earnings and fair value related
to financial instruments. (See statement on Forward Looking Statements.)

The Company utilizes forward exchange contracts to manage exposures related to foreign
currency risks, which primarily arise from short-term foreign currency denominated intercompany
balances. Changes in the fair value of the Company’s forward exchange contracts are generally
offset by the revaluation of the underlying intercompany balances in accordance with SFAS
No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” At December 31, 2004, the Company had $40.9 million of
notional value forward exchange contracts outstanding. Notional amounts do not quantify risk or
represent assets or liabilities of the Company, but are used in the calculation of cash settlements
under such contracts. The Company is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of
nonperformance by the two counterparties to its forward exchange contracts, but the Company
does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet their obligations given their high credit ratings.
(See “Derivative Instruments” above and Note O of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
under Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”)

At December 31, 2004, a hypothetical 10% strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar
relative to all other currencies would result in a decrease or increase in cash flow of approximately
$10.4 million.

FUTURE IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued SFAS
No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS No. 123(R) requires the recognition of compensation
expense equal to the fair value of stock options or other share-based payments. The standard is
effective for the Company on July 1, 2005. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 123(R) using the
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modified prospective method, which will result in the amortization of stock compensation expense
related to unvested stock options outstanding on the date of adoption, as well as any stock options
granted subsequent to that date. The Company currently measures stock-based compensation
related to its employee stock option plans using the intrinsic value approach under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” The Company
currently expects the adoption of FASB 123(R) to result in the recording of compensation expense
in the range of $0.5 million to $1.0 million in 2005 related to unvested stock options outstanding
on the date of adoption.

ITEM 7A: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

See the discussion under this caption contained in Item 7.
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ITEM 8: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
SOTHEBY’S HOLDINGS, INC.
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sotheby’s Holdings, Inc.
and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated
statements of income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2004. Our audits also included the consolidated financial statement
schedule provided as Item 15(d). These financial statements and financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Sotheby’s Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission, and our report dated March 16, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & ToucHE LLP

Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
March 16, 2005
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SOTHEBY’S HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
Revenues:

Auction and related TeVENUES . .....o.vveiireniiienreennnens $443,130 $308,990 $296,744

License fee revenues. .......c.coviiiiiiiiiiiiiiriiiiraieaaninan. 45,745 — —

1014373 g (=)= 011 =3 S P 7,845 8,354 10,767

Total revenues..........ooiiiiiii i 496,720 317,344 307,511

Expenses:

Direct costs of SeIVICeS .....vvviviiiiii i i 55,526 45,631 52,620

Salaries and related costs ...t 177,583 143,540 139,224

General and administrative expenses...............covuivnen... 110,760 93,661 89,516

Depreciation and amortization expense ................c.cou.n. 23,830 25,321 21,820

Retention COStS ...ttt ittt it ittt e, 285 8,466 22,564

Net restructuring charges ..........ooviiviiiiiiirnerenanenanas 146 5,039 1,961

Special charges ..o e 1,928 3,112 41,042

Total EXPenSES. ..o v ittt et e 370,058 324,770 368,747

Operating income {lOSS) ... .c.vuuritniuni it 126,662 (7.426) (61,236)
Interest IMCOIMIE. ..\ttt it et e et e e 3,281 2,498 2,506
INterest EXPemSe . ... vu ettt et e e (33,551) (32,832) (22,683)
Other INCOME ... .. i i e e et et 261 673 925
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes ............. 96,653  (37,087) (80,488)
Equity in earnings of investees, net of taxes ....................... 740 31 614
Income tax expense (benefit)................oiiiiiiiiiiiiiit 35,000  (11,018) (20,706)
Income (loss) from continuing operations .................c.oevvnns 62,393  (26,038) (59,168)
Discontinued operations (Note C):

Income from discontinued operations before taxes............. 38,802 9,431 8,083

Income tax eXpense........covuuiuiiiiiiiiiii i 14,516 4,049 3,670
Income from discontinued operations.....................coil.. 24,286 5,382 4,413
Net income (10SS) .. ovueiinint i e e $ 86,679 $(20,656) $(54,755)
Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations..................... $ 101 § (042) $ (0.96)

Earnings from discontinued operations......................... 0.39 0.09 0.07
Basic earnings (loss) per share ........coovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiian., $ 140 $§ (034) § (0.89)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations..................... $ 100 $ (042) § (0.96)

Earnings from discontinued operations......................... 0.39 0.09 0.07
Diluted earnings (loss) per share: ............c.oovvniineinenen..s .. $§ 138 $ (034) $ (0.89)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOTHEBY’S HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Thousands of dollars)

December 31 2004 2003
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash eqQUIVAIEITS .. ...\t . ettt ittt $ 146922 § 62,387
Restricted Cash. . ... i i i e e e e e 11,964 8,165
Y78 B3 g vt BT NI 14 U= 11 - A P 110,000 _
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $6,172 and $5933 ............. 411,157 231,651
Notes receivable and consignor advances, net of allowance for credit losses of
1,759 and $1,600 .. ..ot e e 56,716 82,253
0N 3 o 33,873 14,848
Prepaid expenses and Other CUTTENt @SSELS .. ..., .o st eniireereisaraanrenns 61,077 45,748
Assets held for sale (NOTe C) ...ttt it et et iene e 588 29,870
TOtal CUITERt ASSEIS .ottt t ettt aee s e et e e ettt e 832,297 474,922
Non-Current Assets:
NOtEs TECEIVADIE ... it i e i et 35,575 26,689
Properties, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $122,283 and $98,093 ......... 238,523 248,233
GoodWIll ... e e e e e e 13,753 13,565
L Ly 1T o - O 28,343 28,678
Deferred INCOME LaXES . .. ottt et ittt e e e e e et e s 73,151 111,431
[0 73T P -1« O U AP 3,704 2,582
TOAl ASSEES + ittt e et et e e e e e e $1,225346  $906,100

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

DUE 10 COMSIZNOTS « « « 4t vt ettt e st r et et e e et e e et e e e e e et e e e e anee s $ 470,946  $255,198
Credit facility borrowings ........... ... SN — 20,000
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . .......... ... ... . i 112,416 81,712
BB o) (=5 0 =T B (V=) 1L = 4,799 4,787
ACCTUEA IMCOMIE LBXES .« v vttt ettt ive et ettt tiae st ten e et e s anaasrennnarsarunnnaeenan 10,153 4,441
Deferred INCOME (AKES . ...\ttt ettt ittt et n et sttt s s e n s s s e ainaee s 5462 4,630
York Property capital lease obligation . ..ot e 123 113
Deferred gain on sale of York Property ....... e e e e 1,129 1,129
Settlement Habilities .. .. ...ttt i e e e 14,454 5,281
Liabilities held for sale (NOte C) .. ..ot et rae e 455 15,227

Total Current Liabilities ... ...uiint it i e i e e 619,937 392,518

Long-Term Liabilities:

Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount of $383 and $461.............c.covviviiiin... 99,617 99,539
Settlement HabilitIes .. ...\ttt ittt et ettt it 61,085 75,498
York Property capital lease obligation .......... ... i 172,046 172,169
Deferred gain on sale of YOrk Property ..ot iiii i it 19,374 20,502
(010575 G T o) 1 13- O 17,368 18,466

Total Liabillties . ...\ttt ettt e e e e e 989,427 778,692

Commitments and contingencies (Note P)

Shareholders’ Equity:
Common stock, $0.10 par value. . .. ...t e 6,374 6,173
Authorized shares—125,000,000 of Class A and 75,000,000 of Class B, Issued and outstanding
shares—45,923,612 and 45,052,339 of Class A, and 17,850,808 and 16,681,150 of Class B at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively

Additional paid-in capital ....... .. 230,124 204,567
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) ...ttt 8,139 (78,540)
Deferred compensation EXpense ... .......ovvvererneeineeanernuens e e (10,341) (1,507)
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (l0SS) . .......ontiiit i 1,623 (3,285)
Total Shareholders’ Equity ... e 235,919 127,408
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity .............oooiiiiiiiii i, $1,225346  $906,100

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOTHEBY’S HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Thousands of dollars)

Year Ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
Operating Activities:
Net i000me (J088)¥ ..ottt ettt ettt i asaaneaarascnraranernns $ 86,679 § (20,656) $ (54,755)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization eXPense. ... .......eruteerarsnireniieinern s 23,830 25,321 21,820
Gain on sale of discontinued operations (Note C) .......................... (32,005) — —
Equity in earnings of investees ... ...t (740} (31) (614)
Deferred income tax (benefit) ........ ... . 23,215 (16,557) (14,912)
Tax benefit of stock option eXercises..........oooviiii i — 4 70
Restricted stock compensation eXpense. ........vvuiiiriiinie it 6,646 387 —
ASSEE PIOVISIONS . .. v vttt ittt ettt ettt 4,033 1,311 1,341
Amortization of discount related to antitrust matters ................cc.vuvnn. 4,885 4,125 2,624
L0 1373 N 1,469 1,052 995
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable ..ot (172,482) 51,080 (33,631)
Increase In dNVeNTOTY ... ou ettt e (19,312) (2,771) (3,830)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets ....................... (14,761) (5,705) (7,484)
(Increase) decrease in other long-term assets ...............c..ccovvivnnennn.. (372) (484) 1,276
(Decrease) increase in settlement Hlabilities .............. ... (10,822) (50,457) 38,822
Increase (decrease) in due tO CONSIZNOTS ... .. vivtueeeininnerrniieeannnan, 208,655 (19,626) 55,833
(Increase) decrease in deferred income tax assets ...............c.vovennin... (677) 5,235 5,753
Increase (decrease) in accrued income taxes and deferred income tax labilities 6,191 103 (8,780)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other
Habilities .. ..o e 28,225 (20,057) (21,268)
Adjustments related to discontinued operations (Note C) .................... 3,461 (722) (323)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities ........... .. cooivnnt. 146,118 (48,448) (17,063)
Investing Activities:
Funding of notes receivable and consignor advances.................ccoovinunnnn (145,663)  (113,014)  (133,258)
Collections of notes receivable and consignor advances .......................... 160,940 98,381 140,263
Purchases of short-term investments ..............ccoivirireiiiinteinnneens.. (288,414) — —
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments ................ .. .......... 178,414 — —
Capital expenditires .. ... .....uinttiet et e (13,468) (6,593) (13,160)
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations (Note C) ......................... 53,863 — —
Proceeds from sale of Chicago Salesroom .......... ..o, — — 2,566
Proceeds from York Property sale-leaseback ..........c.ooiiiiniiiiiiii i, — 167,054 —
Distributions from equity investees .............iviiiiiiii i 2,900 1,731 1,865
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash . ... ... .. it e (4,489) 1,057 (5,110)
Acquisition related to discontinued operations (Note C) ......................... — (4.944) —
Capital expenditures related to discontinued operations (Note C)................. (194) (2,252) (1,482)
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash related to discontinued operations (Note C) 755 2,881 (3,190)
Net cash (used) provided by investing activities .............oovvvrennnn. (55,356) 144,301 (11,506)
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from credit facility borrowings............ ... i 65,000 145,000 100,000
Repayments of credit facility borrowings ... (85,000)  (225,000)  (130,000)
Decrease in York Property capital lease obligation ... (113) (1,584) —
Proceeds from exercise of Stock Options. . ......ovitiviiirr i, 9,945 43 2,391
Net cash used by financing activities . ...t vinnane, (10,168) (81,541) (27,609)
Impact of consolidating variable interest entity....... ..ot iiiiinnans 133 — —
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents........................ 893 2,539 2,978
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents................. .. ..ot 81,620 16,851 (53,200)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .......... .. .. it 65,403 48,552 101,752
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ........... ...t $147023 § 65403 § 48552
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period:
COoNUNUING OPETATIONS . .« o\t vttt ettt et et vt r e e i rene s iaanaeennnns $ 146,922 § 62387 § 45967
Discontinued Operations. .. ....viv it vrit it rr it i 101 3,016 2,585
$ 147,023 § 65403 § 48552
* Net income from discontinued operations included in net income (loss) above ....... $ 24286 § 5382 § 4413
Non-Cash Activities:
York Property capital lease asset and obligation ..............cc.oiiiiiiiiiiin, $ —  $173866 3§ —

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOTHEBY’S HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002
(Thousands of dollars)
Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Deferred Other

Comprehensive Common  Paid-In  (Accumulated Compensation Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  Stock Capital Deficit) Expense Income (Loss)

Balance at January 1, 2002 ... $6,131 $199,645 $ (3,129) $ — $(16,777)
Comprehensive loss:
Net 1oss.....coovvivnennns $(54,755) (54,755)

Other comprehensive
income, net of tax—
foreign currency
translation ............. 6,470 6,470

Comprehensive loss........... $(48,285)

Stock options exercised ....... 21 2,370

Tax benefit associated with
exercise of stock options.... 70

Shares issued to directors..... 1 321
Balance at December 31, 2002 6,153 202,406 (57,884) — (10,307)

Comprehensive loss:
Netloss........c....c.... $(20,656) (20,656)

Other comprehensive
income, net of tax—
foreign currency
transiation ............. 7,022 7,022

Comprehensive loss........... $(13,634)

Stock options exercised ....... 1 70

Tax benefit associated with
exercise of stock options.... 4

Restricted stock shares issued 16 1,878 (1,894)

Amortization of restricted
stock compensation expense 387

Shares issued to directors..... 3 209
Balance at December 31, 2003 6,173 204,567 (78,540) (1,507) (3,285)
Comprehensive income:

Net income .............. $ 86,679 86,679

Other comprehensive
income, net of tax—
foreign currency
translation ............. 4,908 4,908

Comprehensive income ....... $ 91,587

Stock options exercised ....... 84 10,141
Restricted stock shares issued 117 15,286 (15,643)

Restricted stock shares
forfeited.................... D (162) 163

Amortization of restricted
stock compensation expense 6,646

Shares issued to directors ..... 1 292
Balance at December 31, 2004 $6,374 $230,124 $ 8,139 $(10,341) $ 1,623

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOTHEBY’S HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note A—Organization and Business

Sotheby’s Holdings, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires,
the “Company”) is one of the world’s two largest auctioneers of fine arts, decorative arts and
collectibles. The Company offers property through its worldwide Auction segment in approximately
70 collecting categories, among them fine art, decorative arts, jewelry and collectibles. In addition
to auctioneering, the Auction segment is engaged in a number of related activities, including the
purchase and resale of art and other collectibles and the brokering of private purchases and sales
of art and collectibles. The Company also conducts art-related financing activities through its
Finance segment.

The Company was incorporated in Michigan in August 1983. In October 1983, the Company
acquired Sotheby Parke Bernet Group Limited, which was then a publicly held company listed on
the International Stock Exchange of the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland Limited and
which, through its predecessors, had been engaged in the auction business since 1744. In 1988, the
Company issued shares of Class A Common Stock to the public. The Class A Common Stock is
listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Note B—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation—The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of
Sotheby’s Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, as well as those of an entity for which
the Company is the primary beneficiary (see Note U). Intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated. Equity investments in which the Company exercises significant influence over
the investee but does not have control and is not the primary beneficiary are accounted for using
the equity method (see Note G).

Revenue Recognition (Auction and Related Revenues)—The principal components of Auction
and Related Revenues are: (1) auction commission revenues, (2) private sale commissions,
(3) principal activities and (4) catalogue subscription revenues. The revenue recognition policy for
each of these is described below.

Auction Commission Revenues—In its role as auctioneer, the Company generally functions as
an agent accepting property on consignment from its selling clients. The Company sells property as
agent of the consignor, billing the buyer for property purchased, receiving payment from the buyer
and remitting to the consignor the consignor’s portion of the buyer’s payment after deducting the
Company’s commissions, expenses and applicable taxes. The Company’s commissions include those
earned from the buyer (“buyer’s premium revenue”) and those earned from the consignor (“seller’s
commission revenue”), both of which are calculated as a percentage of the hammer price of
property sold at auction. Buyer’s premium and seller’s commission revenues are recognized at the
time of the auction sale (i.e., when the auctioneer’s hammer falls) and are recorded net of
commissions owed to unaffiliated third parties. Commissions owed to third parties are principally
the result of risk sharing arrangements, whereby the Company reduces its financial exposure under
certain auction guarantees in exchange for sharing in the auction commissions with a partner. At
certain times, the partner will also assist the Company in valuing and marketing the property to be
sold at auction.

Private Sale Commissions—Private sale commissions are earned through the brokering of art
and collectible purchases and sales and are recognized when an agreement with the purchaser is
finalized and the Company has fulfilled its obligations with respect to the transaction.

Principal Activities—Principal activities consist mainly of gains or losses on sales of inventory,
income or loss related to auction guarantees and gains or losses related to the sales of loan
collateral, as well as any decrease in the carrying value of the Company’s inventory.
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Gains or losses on sales of inventory and loan collateral are recognized when an agreement
with the purchaser is finalized and the Company has fulfilled its obligations with respect to the
transaction. The recognition of a loss is accelerated when the Company determines that an
impairment of the inventory’s value has occurred.

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, the Company will guarantee to
consignors a minimum price in connection with the sale of property at auction. The Company
must perform under its auction guarantee only in the event that the property sells for less than
the minimum price and, therefore, the Company must pay the difference between the sale price at
auction and the amount of the auction guarantee. Generally, the Company is entitled to a share of
the excess proceeds if the property under the auction guarantee sells above a minimum price. The
Company’s share of any excess proceeds, as well as any shortfall between the sale price at auction
and the amount of the auction guarantee are recognized as a principal gain or loss at the time of
the related auction sale.

Catalogue Subscription Revenues—Catalogue subscription revenues are earned from the sale of
auction catalogues and are recognized ratably over the period of the subscriptions.

Revenue Recognition (Other Revenues)—Other revenues consist principally of interest income
earned on Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances. Such interest income is recognized when
earned based on the amount of the outstanding loan and the length of time the loan was
outstanding during the period. Where there is doubt regarding the ultimate collectibility of
principal for impaired loans, any cash receipts subsequently received are thereafter directly applied
to reduce the recorded investment in the loan.

Direct Costs of Services—Direct Costs of Services consists largely of catalogue production and
distribution costs and sale marketing costs, which are expensed at the time of sale, as well as
corporate marketing expenses, which are expensed as incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents are liquid investments comprised primarily of
bank and time deposits and other short-term investments with effective maturities of three months
or less. These investments are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

Restricted Cash—Restricted Cash principally consists of amounts or deposits whose use is
restricted by either law or contract and primarily includes deposits supporting rental obligations in
the U.S. and Europe and net auction proceeds owed to consignors in certain jurisdictions.

Short-Term Investments—The Company invests in money-market instruments which are
classified as available for sale. These investments are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
at fair value, which is the equivalent of their par value.

Properties—Properties (see Note H) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Leaseholds and leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line
method over the lesser of the life of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement.
Computer software consists of the capitalized cost of purchased computer software, as well as
direct external and internal computer software development costs incurred in the acquisition or
development of software for internal use. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of the software.

The Company capitalizes interest expense on projects when construction or development
requires more than one year for the assets to be ready for their intended use. Capitalized interest
is allocated to properties once placed in service and amortized over the life of the related assets.
The Company did not capitalize any interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002.

Financial Instruments—The carrying amounts of Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash,
Short-Term Investments, Notes Receivable, Consignor Advances and Credit Facility Borrowings do
not materially differ from their estimated fair value due to their nature and the variable interest
rates associated with each of these financial instruments.
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The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was approximately $100 million as of
December 31, 2004. This amount is based on quoted market prices. (See Note J)

The remaining fine payable, which represents its fair value, to the United States Department
of Justice was approximately $27 million as of December 31, 2004. The carrying amount of the
settlement liability related to the Discount Certificates issued in connection with the U.S. Antitrust
Litigation settlement approximates its fair value. (See Note R)

The Company utilizes forward exchange contracts to manage exposures related to foreign
currency risks, which primarily arise from short-term foreign currency denominated intercompany
balances. These contracts are not designated as hedging instruments under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended, and are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, which
is based on referenced market rates. Changes in the fair value of the Company’s forward exchange
contracts are recognized currently in earnings and are generally offset by the revaluation of the
underlying intercompany balances in accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency
Translation.” (See Note O)

Inventory—Inventory is valued on a specific identification basis at the lower of cost or
management’s estimate of net realizable value. (See Note F)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts—Management evaluates specific accounts receivable balances
when it becomes aware of a situation where a client may not be able to meet its financial
obligations to the Company. The amount of the required allowance is based on the facts available
to management and is reevaluated and adjusted as additional information is received. Allowances
are also established for probable losses inherent in the remainder of the accounts receivable
balance.

Allowance for Credit Losses—Management evaluates specific loans when it becomes aware of
a situation where a borrower may not be able to repay the loan. The amount of the required
allowance is based on the facts available to management and is reevaluated and adjusted as
additional information is received. Secured loans that may not be collectible are analyzed based on
the current estimated realizable value of the collateral securing each loan, as well as the current
creditworthiness and financial condition of each borrower. Reserves are established for secured
loans that management believes are under-collateralized, and with respect to which the under-
collateralized amount may not be collectible from the borrower. Unsecured loans are analyzed
based on management’s estimate of the current collectibility of each loan, taking into account the
current creditworthiness and financial condition of the borrower. A reserve is also established for
probable losses inherent in the remainder of the loan portfolio based on historical data related to
loan write-offs. (See Note E)

Goodwill—Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis as of October 31, and
between annual tests if indicators of potential impairment exist, using a fair-value-based approach.
No impairment of goodwill has been identified during any of the periods presented. (See Note I)

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets—1L.ong-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be
recoverable. In such situations, long-lived assets are considered impaired when estimated future
cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) resulting from the use of the asset and its
eventual disposition are less than the asset’s carrying amount.

Auction Guarantees—In the first quarter of 2003, the Company adopted the recognition and
measurement provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” for guarantees issued or modified after December 31,
2002. The liability related to the Company’s outstanding auction guarantees is recorded in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, which is estimated based on an analysis of historical
loss experience related to auction guarantees.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share—Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net
income (loss) by the weighted average number of outstanding shares of common stock. Because
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the Company reported a net loss for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, stock options
and unvested shares of restricted stock were excluded from the calculation of the weighted average
number of shares for those years, as they would be anti-dilutive. The weighted average number of
shares used for calculating basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share are as follows:

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
{In millions)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding..................... 619 616 615
Dilutive effect of stock options and unvested restricted stock.. 08 — —
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding................... 62.7 61.6 615

||
k

(See Note M for information on stock options outstanding.)

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, there were no reconciling items
between the net income (loss) used in calculating basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share.

Foreign Currency Translation—Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated at
year-end exchange rates. Income statement amounts are translated using weighted average monthly
exchange rates during the year. Gains and losses resulting from translating foreign currency
financial statements are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until the
subsidiary is sold or liquidated.

Stock-Based Compensation—As currently permitted under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” the Company has elected to measure stock-based compensation
related to its employee stock option plans using the intrinsic value approach under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” When the intrinsic
value approach is used, SFAS No. 123 requires supplemental disclosure to show the effects of
using this approach on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share.

Compensation expense related to restricted stock shares issued pursuant to the 2003 Restricted
Stock Plan (the “Restricted Stock Plan”) is determined based on the fair value of the shares
issued on the date of grant. Such compensation expense is subsequently amortized to Salaries and
Related Costs over the corresponding graded vesting period.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if
the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to its employee
stock compensation plans:

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
(Thousands of dollars,

except per share data)

Net income (loss), as reported .................... $ 86,679 $(20,656) $(54,755)

Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
included in reported net income (loss), net of
tax effects. .. ..o e 4,240 272 —

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value based

method for all awards, net of tax effects........ (6,158)  (8,376) (16,443)
Pro forma net income (1oss) ...............coo.... $ 84,761 $(28,760) $(71,198)
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic earnings (loss) per share, as reported... $§ 140 § (0.34) § (0.89)
Basic earnings (loss) per share, pro forma.... $ 137 $ (047) § (1.16)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share, as reported § 138 § (034) § (0.89)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share, pro forma.. § 135 § (047) § (1.16)
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The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for
grants issued in 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
Dividend yield ................ i — — —
Expected volatility ..................coooviiiin 47.9% 49.8% 53.7%
Risk-free rate of return ....................oL. 3.8% 32% 3.7%
Expected life...........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiin 4.5 years 4.5 years 2.6 years

The compensation cost generated by the Black-Scholes model may not be indicative of the
future benefit received by the option holder.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued SFAS
No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS No. 123(R) requires the recognition of compensation
expense equal to the fair value of stock options or other share-based payments. The standard is
effective for the Company on July 1, 2005. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 123(R) using the
modified prospective method, which will result in the amortization of stock compensation expense
related to unvested stock options outstanding on the date of adoption, as well as any stock options
granted subsequent to that date. The Company currently expects the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)
to result in the recording of compensation expense in the range of $0.5 million to $1.0 million in
2005 related to unvested stock options outstanding on the date of adoption.

(See Note M for additional information on the Company’s employee stock option plans and
the Restricted Stock Plan.)

Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets—The Company records a valuation allowance to
reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In
assessing the need for the valuation allowance management considers, among other things, its
projections of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates
and could change in the short-term.

Reclassifications—In the 2003 and 2002 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, approximately
$2.9 million and $4 million, respectively, related to Restricted Cash for the Company’s discontinued
operations have been reclassified from Operating Activities to Investing Activities to conform to
the current year presentation.

"

Comprehensive Income (Loss)—SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” requires
certain transactions to be included as adjustments to net income (loss) in order to report
comprehensive income (loss). The Company’s comprehensive income (loss) includes the net income
(loss) for the period, as well as other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income
(loss) consists of the change in the foreign currency translation adjustment during the period and
is reported in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity. The foreign
currency translation adjustment is included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Gain (Loss) in

the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Note C—Discontinued Operations

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan to sell its domestic real
estate brokerage business, Sotheby’s International Realty, Inc. (“SIR”), as well as most of its real
estate brokerage offices outside of the United States (the “U.S.”). On February 17, 2004, the
Company consummated the sale of SIR to a subsidiary of Cendant Corporation (“Cendant”). In
conjunction with the sale, the Company entered into an agreement with Cendant to license the
Sotheby’s International Realty trademark and certain related trademarks for an initial 50-year term
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with a 50-year renewal option (the “License Agreement”). Initially, the License Agreement was
applicable to Canada, Israel, Mexico, the U.S. and certain Caribbean countries. Also in conjunction
with the sale, Cendant received options to acquire most of the other non-U.S. offices of the
Company’s real estate brokerage business and to expand the License Agreement to cover the
related trademarks in other countries outside the U.S., excluding Australia and New Zealand (the
“International Options™). The International Options were exercised by Cendant during 2004.

The total consideration paid by Cendant at closing for SIR’s company-owned real estate
brokerage business and affiliate network, as well as the License Agreement and the International
Options was $100.7 million, consisting of $98.9 million in cash and the assumption of a $1.8 million
note payable. Net cash proceeds from the sale, after deducting $4.9 million in transaction costs,
were $94.0 million. In addition to the consideration received at closing, the License Agreement
provides for an ongoing license fee during its term based on the volume of commerce transacted
under the licensed trademarks.

The consideration received at closing was allocated among each of the following components
based on a valuation of their respective fair values: (i) SIR’s company-owned real estate brokerage
business and affiliate network, (ii) the License Agreement and (iii) the International Options.
Based on this valuation, $55.1 million was allocated to SIR’s company-owned real estate brokerage
business and affiliate network, $45 million was allocated to the License Agreement and $0.6
million was allocated to the International Options.

As a result of the sale of the real estate brokerage business and affiliate network to Cendant,
the Company recognized a pre-tax gain of $32 million, which is recorded within income from
discontinued operations before taxes in the Consolidated Income Statements. As a result of this
gain, the Company utilized approximately $14.2 million of the net Deferred Tax Asset related to
its net operating loss carryforwards.

The $45 million of proceeds allocated to the License Agreement represents a one-time
non-refundable upfront license fee received by the Company as consideration for entering into the
License Agreement. The Company has no significant future performance obligations associated
with the non-refundable upfront license fee. As a result, the Company recognized license fee
revenue of $45 million in the first quarter of 2004, which is classified within the continuing
operations section of the Consolidated Income Statements. This classification is consistent with how
the Company will report ongoing license fees earned during the term of the License Agreement,
as well as license fee revenue earned in the future from other potential licensing opportunities. As
a result of this one-time license fee, the Company utilized approximately $15.2 million of the net
Deferred Tax Asset related to its net operating loss carryforwards during the first quarter of 2004.
The Company incurred transaction costs of approximately $2.2 million related to the consummation
of the License Agreement principally in the first quarter of 2004, which are recorded within
General and Administrative Expenses in the Consolidated Income Statements.

Similar to the license fee received by the Company in connection with the License Agreement,
the $0.6 million of proceeds allocated to the International Options represents a one-time
non-refundable upfront license fee received by the Company for Cendant’s use of the Sotheby’s
International Realty trademarks in countries outside the U.S. (excluding Australia and New
Zealand). As a result of the exercise of the International Options by Cendant, the Company
recognized license fee revenue of $0.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2004, which is classified
within the continuing operations section of the Consolidated Income Statements. This classification
is consistent with how the Company will report ongoing license fees earned as a result of
Cendant’s use of the trademarks.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company committed to a plan to sell its real estate
brokerage business in Australia. This business is the only remaining component of the Company’s
former Real Estate segment. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the Australia real estate
brokerage business are classified as held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and its
operating results are reported as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Income Statements.
The Australia real estate brokerage business is not material to the Company’s results of
operations, financial condition or liquidity.
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The following is a summary of the operating results of the Company’s discontinued operations
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

For the year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
(Thousands of dollars)
J LS 111 T P $17,716  $39,752  $36,640
Expenses:
Direct costs of Services.......o.ovriiviiiiiiinanns 1,461 4,645 4,329
Salaries and related COStS.......ovviiiiiiiiiieninnn. 5,656 13,327 11,946
General and administrative expenses ................. 3,775 10,305 9,879
Depreciation and amortization expense............... 54 2,262 2,458
Total eXpenses ..........oovivviiieiiiiiiiiiiann, 10,946 30,539 28,612
Operating income ...........covviiiiiiiii e, 6,770 9,213 8,028
Gain on sale of discontinued operations .................. 32,005 — —
Other INCOME . ....oiii i et aaeennes 27 218 55
Income from discontinued operations before taxes........ 38,802 9,431 8,083
InCome ax EXPENSE. ... .vuereuniet i eaiianinrannenns 14,516 4,049 3,670
Income from discontinued operations ..................... $2428  $ 5382 $ 4413

According to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement related to the sale of SIR, the
Company is due to receive amounts collected by Cendant for the closing of real estate transactions
subsequent to February 17, 2004 that were under contract prior to that date. For the year ended
December 31, 2004, revenues from discontinued operations included $9.5 million of such amounts.

The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities classified as held for sale as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003:

December 31 2004 2003
(Thousands of
dollars)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents..............c.coooviiiiin.., $101 $ 3,016
Restricted cash ...t i e 437 1,171
Accounts receivable, net........ ... i 6 1,218
Properties, net. ..ot 10 10,707
GoodWIll .. i e —_ 10,089
Other Current asSetS . .....vvitiver ittt ie et inneennns 34 3,669
Assets held for sale........ooviiiiiiiiiii .. $588 $29,870
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued labilities................... $455 $11,389
Other current liabilities............ ... ... oo i i, — 3,838
Liabilities held for sale ..........ccoviviiiiienn. $455 $15,227

Note D—Segment Reporting

The Company’s continuing operations are organized under two business segments—Auction
and Finance. The Company’s discontinued real estate brokerage business, which comprised its
former Real Estate segment, is not included in this presentation. (See Note C for further
information on discontinued operations.)

Prior to 2004, the Company had presented its share of earnings from its equity investments as
part of Auction and Related Revenues. Beginning in 2004, such amounts are presented net of
taxes as a separate line below income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes in the
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Consolidated Income Statements. Prior year amounts in the presentation below have been adjusted
to conform to the current year presentation.

The Company’s segments are strategic business units that offer different services. They are
managed separately because each business requires different resources and strategies. The
Company’s chief operating decision making group, which is comprised of the Chief Executive
Officer and the senior executives of both of the Company’s segments, regularly evaluates financial
information about these segments in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing
performance. The performance of each segment is measured based on its profit or loss from
operations before taxes and excluding the unallocated items highlighted below in the reconciliation
of segment income (loss) to income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes.

The Auction segment is an aggregation of operations in North America, Europe and Asia as
they are similar in service, customers and the way in which the service is provided. The Auction
segment conducts live auctions of fine arts, decorative arts and collectibles in which the Company
generally functions as an agent accepting property on consignment from its selling clients. In
addition to auctioneering, the Auction segment is engaged in a number of related activities
including the purchase and resale of art and other collectibles and the brokering of private
purchases and sales of art and other collectibles. The Finance segment provides art-related
financing generally secured by works of art that the Company either has in its possession or that
the Company permits the borrower to possess (see Note E). “All Other” primarily includes art
education activities.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies (see Note B). Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on
the location of the actual sale.

The following tables present the Company’s segment information for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Year ended December 31, 2004 Auction Finance  All Other Total
(Thousands of dollars)
Revenues ... $443,130 $5,907 $ 1,938 $450,975
Interest iNCOME ....ovivriiiii i iinns, $ 7611 $§ — $ 10 § 7621
TRtEerest EXPEMSE . ..o vv ittt e e aiaiiiiaaas $28682 $ (87) $ 71 $ 28,666
Depreciation and amortization ................... $23800 $ — § 30 $ 23830
Segment income (lOSS) ........vvuiiiieriiiiiiin.s $ 63,046 $(1,032) $ (563) $ 61,451
Year ended December 31, 2003 Auction Finance  All Other Total
(Thousands of dollars)
Revenues .......ooovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaanan., $308,990 §$ 5310 $3,044 $317,344
Interest income ...ttt $ 6795 § — $§ 15 § 6810
INterest EXPense . ....vvveeranerne e ieeneniiiianas $28358 $§ 294 § 55 § 28707
Depreciation and amortization ..... [P, $24975 § — § 133 § 25108
Segment 1oss ......coviiiiiiiiiii $(10,913) $(1,957) $(1,190) $(14,060)
Year ended December 31, 2002 Auction Finance  All Other Total
(Thousands of dollars)
ReVENUES ..ottt ittt ia e $296,744 $ 5997 $4770 $307,511
Interest iNCOME ....vurir i ene e iieee s $ 7020 $ 31 $ 38 § 7,08
Interest eXpense.......coovvueveeunreennneneinenns. $ 19708 $§ 307 $ 44 $ 20,059
Depreciation and amortization ................... $21429 § — § 192 § 21621
Segment 10SS . .....o.ie it $ (8,014) $ (440) $(1,179) $ (9,633)
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The table below presents revenues for the Company’s operating segments, as well as a
reconciliation of segment revenues to total revenues from continuing operations for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
(Thousands of dollars)

72N T 5 T ) ¢ RO $443,130 $308,990 $296,744
FInance. ..o o e 5,907 5,310 5,997
All Other ...t e 1,938 3,044 4,770

Total segment TEVENUES .. ......ovvrieveriniinearnennes 450,975 317,344 307,511
Unallocated amounts:

License fee revenues (see Note C)..................0s 45,745 — —
Total revenues from continuing operations ................ $496,720 $317,344 $307,511

The table below presents income (loss) before taxes for the Company’s operating segments, as
well as a reconciliation of segment income (loss) before taxes to income (loss) from continuing
operations before taxes for years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
(Thousands of dollars)
AUCHOM vttt e e e e e e $ 63,046 $(10,913) § (8,014)
1 1 T (1,032) (1,957) (440)
Al Other ..o (563)  (1,190)  (1,179)
Segment income (loss) before taxes................... 61,451  (14,060) (9,633)
Unallocated amounts and reconciling items:
License fee revenues (see Note C).................... 45,745 — —
License Agreement transaction costs (see Note C)*... (2,161) — —
Unallocated expenses related to discontinued
operations®® ... .. . . e — (2,237) (1,720)
Special charges (see Note R) ..............c..cooitt. (1,928) (3,112)  (41,042)
Amortization of discount—DOJ antitrust fine
(see Note R) ..vviiiiiiiie i (2,049)  (2,358)  (2,624)
Amortization of discount—Discount Certificates
(see Note R) ..ovvniiiiiriiiiiiiiiiiiineneiiieanns (2,836) (1,767) —
Retention costs (see Note S).........ccovviiiiiin.. (285) (8,466) (22,564)
Net restructuring charges (see Note T) ............... (146) (5,039) (1,961)
Equity in earnings of investees*** .................... (1,138) (48) (944)
Income (loss) from continuing operations
DEfore taXeS .. oovvieiite et $ 96,653 $(37,087) $(80,488)

* Represents transaction costs related to the consummation of the License Agreement, which are
not allocated to the Company’s operating segments. This is consistent with how the related
license fee revenue is presented for segment purposes.

** Represents amounts previously allocated to the Company’s discontinued real estate brokerage
business (see Note C), which represent expenses of the Company’s ongoing operations.

*** Represents the Company’s pre-tax share of earnings (losses) related to its equity investees.
Such amounts are included in the table above in income (loss) before taxes for the Auction
segment, but are presented net of taxes below income (loss) from continuing operations before
taxes in the Consolidated Income Statements.
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Other significant reconciling items related to the Company’s segment information are listed
below: '
Segment  Reconciling  Consolidated
Totals Items Total
(Thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2004:

Interest inCOME ........co.oiriiiiiieieinnninann... $ 7,621 $(4,340)(a) $ 3,281

INEErest EXPENSE. .. .vuereerereieearerenaeennns $28,666  $ 4,885 (b) $33,551

Depreciation €Xpense ..............ocevieevnreennns $23830 § — $23,830
Year ended December 31, 2003:

Interest iNCOME ....ovvuvnerer i enennenes $ 6810 $(4,312)(a) $ 2,498

Interest eXPemsSe. ..ovve v it inii i $28,707 § 4125 (b) $32,832

Depreciation €Xpense . .......v.oviverienenenvnannn. $25,108 § 213 (¢) $25,321
Year ended December 31, 2002:

Interest INCOME ... .v.vveuneieeei e ieanannnnns $ 7,080  $(4,583)a) $ 2,506

Interest €XPense.........covueeiriieininnaiianeinnan. $20,059 §$ 2,624 (b) $22,683

Depreciation eXpense .........ceuveiueerneeierneenn. $21,621 § 199 (c) $21,820

(a) Represents the elimination of interest charged by Auction to Finance for funding Finance’s
loan portfolio.

(b) Represents the amortization of certain interest charges related to the DOJ antitrust fine and
the settlement of the U.S. Antitrust Litigation (see Note R).

(c) Represents corporate depreciation and amortization expense previously allocated to the
Company’s discontinued real estate brokerage business (see Note C).

Information concerning revenues from continuing operations for geographical areas is as
follows:

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
(Thousands of dollars)
United States....oovi it i e s $244,536 $125,235 $133,502
United Kingdom ..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaiiiiaens, 170,062 128,547 122,670
Other CoUNIIIeS ... ooit e it i iia e e enas 82,122 63,562 51,339
Total. .o e e e $496,720 $317,344 $307,511

The table below presents assets for the Company’s operating segments, as well as a
reconciliation of segment assets to consolidated assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003:

December 31 2004 2003

‘ (Thousands of dollars)
72 N8 o1 570 YA $1,064,091 $651,150
233« T ¥ o 86,601 107,678
Al O her. . e e 915 948
Total SegMENt ASSELS .. ..vuvveenrreeeinneiraeerenrreonrneenenan 1,151,607 759,776

Unallocated amounts:

Deferred tax asSets . ... .viirin it 73,151 111,431
Assets held forsale ...... ..., 588 29,870
Unallocated assets related to discontinued operations**** ..., — 5,023
Consolidated aSSEES . ..vvvviine ittt e $1,225,346  $906,100

**¥% Represents amounts previously allocated to the Company’s discontinued real estate brokerage
business (see Note C), which represent assets of the Company’s ongoing operations.
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Note E—Receivables

Accounts Receivable—1In its role as auctioneer, the Company generally functions as an agent
accepting property on consignment from its selling clients. The Company sells property as agent of
the consignor, billing the buyer for property purchased, receiving payment from the buyer and
remitting to the consignor the consignor’s portion of the buyer’s payment after deducting the
Company’s commissions, expenses and applicable taxes. The amounts billed to buyers are recorded
as Accounts Receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Under the standard terms and conditions of the Company’s auction sales, the Company is not
obligated to pay consignors for items that have not been paid for by the buyer. If the buyer
defaults on payment, the Company has the right to cancel the sale and return the property to the
owner, re-offer the property at auction or negotiate a private sale.

In certain situations, under negotiated contractual arrangements or when the buyer takes
possession of the property before payment is made, the Company is liable to the consignor
for the net sale proceeds. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Accounts Receivable included
approximately $158 million and $96.7 million, respectively, of such amounts due from buyers. As of
December 31, 2004, approximately $93.3 million of the amount outstanding at December 31, 2003
had been collected. As of March 1, 2005, approximately $117.9 million of the amount outstanding
at December 31, 2004 had been collected. Management believes that adequate allowances have
been established to provide for potential losses on any uncollected amounts.

At December 31, 2004, approximately $34.7 million, or 8%, of the net Accounts Receivable
balance was due from one purchaser. The Company received full payment of this receivable in
January 2005.

Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances—The Company’s Finance segment provides certain
collectors and dealers with financing generally secured by works of art that the Company either
has in its possession or permits the borrower to possess. The Company’s general policy is to make
secured loans at loan to value ratios (principal loan amount divided by the low auction estimate of
the collateral) of 50% or lower. The Company will also lend at loan to value ratios higher than
50%. All of the Company’s loans are variable interest rate loans.

The Company generally makes two types of secured loans: (1) advances secured by consigned
property to borrowers who are contractually committed, in the near term, to sell the property at
auction (a “consignor advance”); and (2) general purpose term loans to collectors or dealers
secured by property not presently intended for sale (a “term loan”). The consignor advance allows
a consignor to receive funds shortly after consignment for an auction that will occur several weeks
or months in the future, while preserving for the benefit of the consignor the potential of the
auction process. Term loans allow the Company to establish or enhance mutually beneficial
relationships with dealers and collectors. Term loans are generally made with full recourse against
the borrower. In certain instances, however, term loans are made with recourse limited to the
works of art pledged as security for the loan. To the extent that the Company is looking wholly or
partially to the collateral for repayment of its loans, repayment can be adversely impacted by a
decline in the art market in general or in the value of the particular collateral. In addition, in
situations where the borrower becomes subject to bankruptcy or insolvency laws, the Company’s
ability to realize on its collateral may be limited or delayed by the application of such laws. Under
certain circumstances, the Company also makes unsecured loans to collectors and dealers. Included
in Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances are unsecured loans totaling $6.0 million and $11.3
million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In certain situations, the Company also finances the purchase of works of art by certain art
dealers through unsecured loans. The property purchased pursuant to such unsecured loans is sold
by the dealer or at auction with any profit or loss shared by the Company and the dealer. Interest
income related to such unsecured loans is reflected in the results of the Finance segment, while
the Company’s share of any profit or loss is reflected in the results of the Auction segment. The
total of all such unsecured loans was $5.4 million and $7.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
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respectively. These amounts are included in the total unsecured loan balances provided in the
previous paragraph.

At December 31, 2004, two consignor advances comprised approximately 11% and 14%,
respectively, of the net Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances balance. The consignor advance
representing 14% of the December 31, 2004 balance was repaid in January 2005.

The weighted average interest rates charged on Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances
were 5.9%, 5.5% and 5.3% for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Notes Receivable and Consignor Advances included loans to employees of $0.9 million and
$0.2 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The weighted average interest rates
charged on these loans were 7.5% and 5.5% at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Substantially all of the amounts due under these employee loans were repaid in the first quarter of
200s.

Changes in the Allowance for Credit Losses relating to Notes Receivable and Consignor
Advances during 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

2004 2003

(Thousands of dollars)
Allowance for credit losses at January 1.................... $1,600 $1,573
Change in loan loss provision .............cocvvierinainn. 250 548
Write-0ffs . ..o e (103) (537)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes .................... 12 16
Allowance for credit losses at December 31 ................ $1,759 $1,600

Note F—Inventory

Inventory consists principally of objects obtained incidental to the auction process, primarily as
a result of the failure of guaranteed property to sell at auction at or above the minimum price
guaranteed by the Company (see Note Q), defaults by purchasers after the consignor has been
paid and the honoring of purchasers’ claims. To a lesser extent, Inventory also consists of objects
purchased for investment purposes. In situations where guaranteed property fails to sell at auction,
the Company has the right to recover the minimum guaranteed amount through the future sale of
the property.

Note G—Investments

Prior to 2004, the Company had presented its share of earnings from the equity investments
described below as part of Auction and Related Revenues. Beginning in 2004, such amounts are
presented net of taxes as a separate line below income (loss) from continuing operations before
taxes in the Consolidated Income Statements. Prior year amounts have been adjusted to conform
to the current year presentation throughout the Consolidated- Financial Statements and related
notes, where necessary.

On May 23, 1990, the Company purchased the common stock of the Pierre Matisse Gallery
Corporation (“Matisse”) for approximately $153 million. The assets of Matisse consisted of a
collection of fine art (the “Matisse Inventory”). Upon consummation of the purchase, the
Company entered into an agreement with Acquavella Contemporary Art, Inc. (“ACA”) to form
Acquavella Modern Art (“AMA”), a partnership through which the Matisse Inventory would be
sold. The Company contributed the Matisse Inventory to AMA in exchange for a 50% interest in
the partnership. Although the original term of the AMA partnership agreement was for ten years
and was due to expire in 2000, it has been renewed on an annual basis since then with the most
recent extension due to expire on March 31, 2006.

The Company does not control AMA and is not its primary beneficiary; consequently, the
Company uses the equity method to account for its investment in AMA and records its share of
AMA’s operating earnings or losses, net of taxes, within Equity in Earnings of Investees in the
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Consolidated Income Statements. The Company’s 50% interest in the net assets of AMA is
included in Investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The carrying value of the Company’s
investment in AMA totaled $26.4 million and $27.1 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s share of
AMAs pre-tax earnings totaled $0.8 million, $0.1 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

Pursuant to the AMA partnership agreement, upon the death of the majority shareholder of
ACA, the successors-in-interest to ACA have the right, but not the obligation, to require the
Company to purchase their interest in AMA at a price equal to the fair market value of such
interest. The fair market value shall be determined by independent accountants pursuant to a
process and a formula set forth in the partnership agreement that includes an appraisal of the
works of art held by AMA at such time. The net assets of AMA consist principally of the Matisse
Inventory. At December 31, 2004, the carrying value of this inventory was $74.3 million.

To the extent that AMA requires working capital, the Company has agreed to lend the same
to AMA. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, no such amounts were outstanding.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the carrying value of the Company’s investment in
another affiliate was $2.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively. The Company does not control this
affiliate and is not its primary beneficiary; consequently, the Company uses the equity method to
account for its investment. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s
share of this affiliate’s earnings (losses) totaled $0.4 million, ($0.1) million and $36,000, respectively.

Note H—Properties
Properties consists of the following:

December 31 2004 2003
{Thousands of dollars)
Land ..o e $ 2427 $ —
York Property capital lease (see Note L) ................... 173,866 173,866
Buildings and building improvements ....................... 3,943 2,431
Leasehold improvements. .........o.viiiiiiineeiennnennn, 67,519 61,183
Computer hardware and software........................... 60,367 56,248
Furniture, fixtures and equipment........................... 49279 46,884
Construction in PrOZIESS . ... veuiueniin e eietneeienenennn. 1,665 4,160
Other. ... e 1,740 1,554
360,806 346,326
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization ........... (122,283)  (98,093)
Total ..o e $ 238,523 $248,233

On February 7, 2003, the Company completed the sale of its headquarters building at 1334
York Avenue in New York, New York (the “York Property”) to an affiliate of RFR Holding LLC
(“RFR”) for $175 million in cash. Net cash proceeds of approximately $167 million, after
deducting taxes and fees related to the transaction, were used in part to refinance $100 million in
outstanding borrowings under the senior secured term facility of the Company’s former credit
agreement. The Company is leasing the York Property back from RFR for an initial 20-year term,
with options for the Company to extend the lease for two additional 10-year terms. The resulting
lease is being accounted for as a capital lease, which is being amortized over the initial 20-year
lease term (see Note L). Included in Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization above is $16.6
million and $7.9 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to the York
Property capital lease.

The sale of the York Property resulted in a deferred gain of approximately $23 million, which
is being amortized on a straight-line basis against Depreciation and Amortization Expense over the
initial 20-year lease term.

The Company’s obligations under its current senior secured credit agreement are secured by
substantially all of the assets of the Company, including those listed above. (See Note J.)
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Note I—Goodwill

Goodwill is entirely attributable to the Auction segment. The Company has completed its
annual impairment test and concluded that its goodwill was not impaired as of October 31, 2004.
For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, changes in the carrying value of Goodwill were
as follows:

2004 2003

(Thousands of dollars)
Goodwill as of January 1 ... ..ot $13,565 $13,215
Foreign currency exchange rate changes .......................0 . 188 350
Goodwill as of December 31. .. ..t e $13,753 $13,565

Note J—Credit Arrangements

Bank Credit Facilities—On March 4, 2004, the Company used existing cash balances to repay
the remaining $20 million in borrowings outstanding under the senior secured term facility of its
former credit agreement (the “Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”).

Additionally, on March 4, 2004, the Company entered into a new senior secured credit
agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation (the “GE Capital Credit Agreement”). The
GE Capital Credit Agreement is available through March 4, 2007 and provides for borrowings of
up to $200 million provided by an international syndicate of lenders.

Borrowings under the GE Capital Credit Agreement are available for the funding of the
Company’s ordinary working capital requirements and general corporate needs. The Company paid
arrangement fees of $3.0 million related to the GE Capital Credit Agreement, which are being
amortized to interest expense over the three-year term of the agreement. The Company’s
obligations under the GE Capital Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the assets
of the Company, as well as the assets of its subsidiaries in the U.S. and the UK.

The GE Capital Credit Agreement contains financial covenants requiring the Company to not
exceed a specified level of annual capital expenditures and to have a quarterly fixed charge
coverage ratio of not less than 1.0. In December 2004, the GE Capital Credit Agreement was
amended to increase the permitted amount of annual capital expenditures from $10 million to $15
million. The GE Capital Credit Agreement also has certain non-financial covenants and
restrictions, including one that prohibits the Company from making dividend payments. The
Company is in compliance with its covenants.

At the option of the Company, borrowings under the GE Capital Credit Agreement generally
bear interest equal to: (i) 1.25% plus the higher of the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Rate
plus 0.5%, or (ii) LIBOR plus 2.75%. Beginning on March 31, 2005, on a quarterly basis, the
applicable interest rate charged for borrowings under the GE Capital Credit Agreement will be
adjusted up or down depending on the Company’s performance under the quarterly fixed charge
coverage ratio tests. Due to the Company’s favorable 2004 operating results, management
anticipates a 0.25% decrease in the cost of funds under the GE Capital Credit Agreement in 2005.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the GE Capital
Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had outstanding borrowings of $20
million under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the weighted average interest rate charged on
outstanding short-term borrowings was approximately 6.3%. For the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002, the weighted average interest rate charged on outstanding short-term borrowings
was 5.2%. ’

Senior Unsecured Debt—In February 1999, the Company issued a tranche of long-term debt
securities (the “Notes™), pursuant to the Company’s $200 million shelf registration with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, for an aggregate offering price of $100 million. The ten-year
Notes have an effective interest rate of 6.98% payable semi-annually in February and August.
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The Notes have covenants that impose limitations on the Company from placing liens on
certain property and entering into certain sale-leaseback transactions. The Company is in
compliance with these covenants.

An event of default related to the GE Capital Credit Agreement does not, in and of itself,
constitute an event of default under the Indenture pursuant to which the Notes were issued.

If and to the extent required under the Indenture pursuant to which the Notes were issued
and subject to certain exceptions contained in the Indenture, the security documents executed in
connection with the GE Capital Credit Agreement provide that the obligations under the Notes
shall be secured equally and ratably with that portion of the obligations under the GE Capital
Credit Agreement that exceed the permitted exceptions contained in the Indenture.

Interest Expense—For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, interest expense
related to the Company’s continuing operations was $33.6 million, $32.8 million and $22.7 million,
respectively, and consisted of the following:

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
(Thousands of dollars)

Credit Facility Borrowings:

Interest expense on outstanding borrowings ................ $ 298 $1979 $ 6,800
Amortization of amendment and arrangement fees ......... 1,114 1,929 4,492
Commitment feeS. ... ...cvveeiitiiiii it iiiieeens 869 358 482
SUb-total ... e 2,281 4266 11,774
Interest expense on York Property capital lease obligation
(see Note L) ..ot i 17911 16,119 —
Interest expense on long-term debt ........................... 6,952 6,948 6,943
Amortization of discount related to DOJ antitrust fine
(see Note R) . .ooouiiii i e 2,049 2,358 2,624
Amortization of discount related to Discount Certificates
(see Note R) ....ovieiiii i e 2,836 1,767 —
Other interest EXPemSe . .. v v vnrinevr it eieeerrenenaenes 1,522 1,374 1,342
00T 7 ) $33,551 $32,832 $22,683

Other interest expense principally relates to interest accrued on the unfunded obligation under
the Company’s Benefit Equalization Plan (see Note N).

Interest Paid—For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, interest paid totaled
$29.0 million, $27.5 million and $16.5 million, respectively.
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Note K—Income Taxes

The significant components of the income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations
consist of the following:
Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
(Thousands of dellars)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes:

DOMESHC -+ e v e e et e e e e $27,763  $(43,103) $(47,758)
FOT@IZN « vttt e e 68,890 6,016  (32,730)
TOtal ..ot $96,653  $(37,087) $(80,488)
Income tax expense (benefit)—current:

Federal ... ..ot e $1515 § — § (9,780)
e} (<3 T4 ¢ 10,270 5,539 3,986
Sub-total ... 11,785 5,539 (5,794)

Income tax expense (benefit)—deferred:
Federal and state ..... ...ttt 9216  (12457)  (2,107)
FOTEIZN - .t e ettt et e 13,999  (4,100) (12,805)
Sub-total ... 23215  (16,557) (14,912)
TOtAL et et e $35,000 $(11,018) $(20,706)

For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2002, income tax expense related to the
Company’s equity in earnings of investees was $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

The components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities related to the Company’s
continuing operations are disclosed below:

December 31 2004 2003
(Thousands of dollars)

Deferred tax assets:

Asset provisions and accrued liabilities ..................... ... $ 25,400 $ 32,639
Capital lease obligation ...t 60,429 60,824
Tax loss and credit carryforwards ...l 76,313 113,743
SUD-tOtAl ..o e 162,412 207,206
Valuation allowance ..............oiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiiai. (33,762)  (34,493)
Total deferred tax asSetS....... oo 128,380 172,713

Deferred tax liabilities:
Difference between book and tax basis of depreciable and

AMOTtiZADlE A8SEES . .\ v ittt e e e 52,295 56,566
Basis differences in minority owned investments ................... 8,396 9,346
Total deferred tax liabilities .............ccoiiiviiiiannnn.. 60,691 65,912

Net deferred tax asset......ocoviiiiiiiiiininrennins. $ 67,689 $106,801

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had a tax asset related to U.S. Federal tax loss
carryovers of $29.3 million, which begin to expire in 2020. The Company also has various foreign
and state loss carryovers totaling $43.9 million that expire in 2005 and thereafter. The Company
provided a valuation allowance for certain state, Federal and foreign loss carryforwards of $33.8
million and $34.5 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The valuation allowance
decreased by $0.7 million during 2004 and decreased by $2.7 million during 2003. The changes in
the valuation allowance resulted from management’s evaluation of the utilization of state, Federal
and foreign operating losses and U.S. federal tax credit carryforwards. In assessing the need for
the valuation allowance management considers, among other things, its projections of future
taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.

55




During 2004, the Company had $2.9 million of stock option deductions, the tax benefit of
which will be recorded to Additional Paid-In Capital when realized.

As discussed in Note C, on February 17, 2004, the Company consummated the sale of its
domestic real estate brokerage business to Cendant for $100.7 million. As a result of the sale, the
Company utilized approximately $30 million of the asset related to the net operating loss
carryforwards to offset the taxable gain on the overall transaction.

The effective rate related to the Company’s continuing operations varied from the statutory
rate as follows:

Year ended December 31 ) 2004 2003 2002

Statutory Federal income tax rate.............oooivniinennns 35.00% 35.00%  35.00%
State and local taxes, net of Federal tax expense or benefit -242%  8.13% 5.17%
Foreign taxes at rates different than U.S. rates ............. 211%  255% 1.89%
Non-deductible antitrust expenses ................covuvuunn. 0.98% -256% -11.18%
Valuation allowance .............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiienen., 326% -8.13% -436%
Other .o e 1.50% -528% -0.79%
Effective income tax rate ...........c.oiiiiiiiiiiiiiii 3621% 2971%  25.73%

Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries included in consolidated Retained Earnings at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $109 million and $81.4 million, respectively. Such amounts are
considered to be reinvested indefinitely or will be distributed from income in such a way that
would not incur a significant tax consequence and, therefore, no provision has been made for taxes
that would be payable upon distribution of these earnings.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “AJCA”), signed into law in October 2004,
allows the Company to repatriate up to $500 million of permanently reinvested foreign earnings in
2005 and 2006 at an effective tax rate of 5.25%. The Company is currently reviewing whether to
take advantage of this new provision of the AJCA.

Total net income tax payments related to the Company’s continuing operations during 2004,
2003 and 2002 were $7.8 million, $5.7 million, and $3.8 million, respectively.

The tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 related to the foreign
currency translation adjustment included in Other Comprehensive Income was approximately $2.5
million, $3.1 million, and $3.6 million, respectively.

Note L—Lease Commitments

Capital Lease—On February 7, 2003, the Company sold its headquarters building at 1334 York
Avenue in New York City (the “York Property”) and leased it back from the buyer for an initial
20-year term, with options for the Company to extend the lease for two additional 10-year terms.
The lease is being accounted for as a capital lease. Under the lease agreement, rental payments
escalate 7% every three years during the initial term.

The following is a schedule, by year, of the future minimum lease payments due under the
York Property capital lease, together with the present value of the future minimum lease payments
as of December 31, 2004 (in thousands of dollars):

200 e $ 18,025
2006 . . e 19,264
200 e e e e 19,287
2008 e e e e 19,287
2000 e e e e e 20,612
hereal T . et e 310,484
Total future minimum lease payments..............c..vviiuiiinenn.. 406,959
Less: amount representing interest .............oovviiiiiiiiinii.s 234,790
Present value of future minimum lease payments .................. $172,169
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In addition to the lease payments above, under the terms of the York Property capital lease,
the Company is required to pay real estate taxes and operating costs related to the premises.

Operating Leases—The Company conducts business on premises leased in various locations
under long-term operating leases expiring through 2060. For the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, net rental expense under operating leases was as follows:

Year ended December 31 2004 2003 2002
(Thousands of dollars)
Continuing OPErations . .........couvieerirereereaereneninenens $13,053 $11,589 $10,214
Discontinued operations (see Note C) ..............covieen... 864 4,674 4,169
5 e 7 Y AP $13,917 $16,263 $14,383

Future minimum lease payments related to the Company’s continuing operations under
noncancelable operating leases in effect at December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands of
dollars):

2005 Lt e e e e $14,857
2000 L e e e 12,836
2007 e e e 10,276
2008 8,920
2009 L e e 5,672
0 11 g=- ) =5 S P 36,862

Total future minimum lease payments................cooeeeiinnn. . $89,423

Future minimum lease payments exclude minimum sublease rental receipts of $4.0 million
owed to the Company in the future under noncancelable subleases.

In addition to the lease payments above, under the terms of certain leases, the Company is
required to pay real estate taxes and utility costs and may be subject to escalations in the amount
of future minimum lease payments based on certain contractual provisions.

In February 2005, the Company extended the lease expiration date related to the lease for its
middle market auction salesroom at Olympia in Kensington, West London from June 2006 to June
2015. This extension will result in an increase of approximately $22 million in total operating lease
obligations.

Note M—Shareholders’ Equity

Common Stock—Each share of the Company’s Class A Common Stock is entitled to one vote
and each share of the Company’s Class B Common Stock is entitled to ten votes. Both classes of
common stock share equally in cash dividend distributions, if any. The Class A Common Stock is
traded on the New York Stock Exchange.

Preferred Stock—In addition to the Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock
outstanding, the Company has the authority to issue 50 million shares of no par value Preferred
Stock. No such shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Restricted Stock Plan—In February 2003, the Compensation Committee approved the adoption
of the Restricted Stock Plan, effective May 1, 2003. The Restricted Stock Plan was approved by a
vote of shareholders on April 29, 2003. The purpose of the Restricted Stock Plan is to enable the
Company to retain valued employees and to continue to attract the finest executives. The
Restricted Stock Plan provides for the issuance of restricted shares of the Company’s Class B
Common Stock (“Restricted Stock™) to eligible employees, as selected by the Compensation
Committee. In making such selections, the Compensation Committee may take into account the
nature of the services rendered by such employees, their present and potential contributions to the
Company’s success, and such other factors as the Compensation Committee in its discretion shall
deem relevant. The maximum aggregate amount of Restricted Stock which may be issued from the
Company’s authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of Class B Common Stock is 2 million
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shares. Restricted Stock shares granted pursuant to the Restricted Stock Plan generally vest ratably
after each of the first, second, third and fourth years following the date of grant. During the
vesting period, the participants have voting rights and receive dividends, if any, but the shares may
not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered.

In February 2003, the Compensation Committee also approved an exchange offer of cash or
Restricted Stock for certain stock options held by eligible employees under the Sotheby’s Holdings,
Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “Exchange Offer”). The Exchange Offer was tendered during the
first half of 2004. As a result of the Exchange Offer, approximately 5.6 million stock options were
cancelled and 1.1 million shares of Restricted Stock were issued. The Restricted Stock shares were
issued upon acceptance of the Exchange Offer at the closing market price of the Company’s Class
A Common Stock on that date and resulted in the recording of Deferred Compensation Expense
and Additional Paid-in Capital of approximately $14 million. The amount recorded as Deferred
Compensation Expense is being amortized to Salaries and Related Costs over the vesting period
described above. For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recognized stock
compensation expense of $5.5 million related to the Exchange Offer. The cash payment made in
conjunction with the Exchange Offer was approximately $2.2 million and was expensed in full
upon acceptance on March 31, 2004.

In addition to the Restricted Stock issued in conjunction with the Exchange Offer, the
Company issued 120,000 shares and 160,000 shares of Restricted Stock with fair values of $1.6
million and $1.4 million, during 2004 and 2003, respectively. The fair value of such Restricted
Stock was recorded as Deferred Compensation Expense and Additional Paid-In Capital in the
Shareholders’ Equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets and is being amortized to Salaries
and Related Costs over the corresponding vesting period. For the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003, the Company recognized compensation expense of $1.1 million and $0.4 million,
respectively, related to these Restricted Stock grants. Certain of these Restricted Stock shares were
granted pursuant to a three-year